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DESCRIPTION:
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ATE:
03/10/93
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Lacey, Edward

ATE:
03/10/93
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o Pollce Court— 4[ DlS_tBIOt Ve

- @ity and Qmetg$
of ety ﬁnrk

88.0

:S'm'eet, aged.....Q/... .......... years,
being duZy sworn

Cz@_anWore.eazd the said be'w{g a.... %
« - - ,

'and w]wck was occ'c@% 6y deponent as a....... @M/

and in fwkwk there was at the time & human being, byusaaine

7. D

says, that he has great cause to bohezze, and does beheve, that. tlze afor esazd

BUBGLARY Fs ommztted nd the ajmind proper tg/ taker, stylen and caze awgy by

- Jor the reasons Jollowing,
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Magistrate,
.. Officer,

on the cothlaint of

e $0 ANS0ET General Sessions,

TIE PEOPLE, &,

Police Court, _ Distriet




CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS-

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own.

knowledge.

@Police Fustice,




'CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK, SS-

sa};'s, that he has heard read the foregoing ‘affidavit of

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own.

knowlecige.

(Police Fustice.




District Police Court.

Sec. 198-—200.

CITY AND COUNTY | + “
mﬁ é %*L/ being duly examined befor%w under-

signed according to law, on the é/nnexed charge, and being informed that it is h ight to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h that the statement is designed to
enable h{A_. if he sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h % H
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be uSed

against h VA oOn the trial.

Question. hat is your name?

_Answer. .

_Question.  How old are you.?

Anszver.

—Auswer. /.
Question. W re do you live 1 how I 2 i ere P

e Question. W

N A nszer. .

Question. - Give any xplanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony

against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer. .




asng o

" Sec. 198—200. ' ) District Police Court.

CITY D COUNTY
RK %

being duly examined before. the under-
signed accordmg to law, on the annexed/ charge, and being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h &e—; that the statement is designed to
enable h&~ if he seces fit, to answér the charge and explain the facts [alleged against h ;
that he is at liberty to waive makmg a statement, and that h waiver cannot bec-gfed

against h e on the trial.

Question. Z&%at is your name?

snwer. O 1920

__Question.  How old are you ?

dswer. LY %//ya S

Question. W

o =1 —

.. Anuswer.

...Question.  Where do you live gnd how long have you resided there ?
S% J
_Answer. [V T 3/ ﬂ ; J

-.Question. What is your business or profession?

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

~ Answer. 7 W )




It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime vherein mentioned has

125511 cie?%ca,us

___________ Hundred Dollars,__

sor ofthe City of New Yor

—fo 189

Dated, .......

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

LSuilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged,

Police Justice.
1881




Police Court---

"THE PEOPLE, &c.,

Dated,

Magistrate.

Oflicer.
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JCOURT;QF GENERAL SESSIONS OF THE PEACE,
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Before,

WILLIAM PAPE,

and HON. RUFUS B, COWING,

EDWARD LACEY. and a Jury.

]

-"""""“""W”"”"ﬂ"""llﬂ"""“""ll""""

Tried MARCH 24TH, 1893.

Indicted for’BURGLARY, in the THIRD DEGREE.

Indictment Tfiled MARCH 1LOTH, 1893.

APPEARANCES
ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY VERNON M. DAVIS,

For THE PEOPLE.

MESSRS. WESTERFIELD and Van METER,
| For THE DEFENCE.




testifieqg that
On the 3rd or
1893, ne Stabled at 427 magy
was g Peddler,

Storieg hignh,

At thattime
there wag

potatoes, Onions, apples, &e,
There were six bushels,

"Seoteh J. G'sg, v

in the builg-
ing, in two sacks, mark eq
and the Word %golgw

on the top or
the "Scoteh.v He,

the camplainaht

s> haa bought the
potatqes on that very day,

from Ellis & Woren,
Gansevoort Market,

six o'clock,

s and everything was all

- He next went to the stable at about
8even o'ecloeck the next morning,

The'stable door wag
the hasp hag been Pried open.,

open then,

The door haa
been Basteneqg with a staple

and hasp,

He entered the
and migsgeq two sacks of potétoes, sSix bushels,
which were worth $4.50,




any complaint to anybody; he said nothing about it.

‘. On the 4th of March, Saturday night ,
was standing on the corner of 79th Street

A boy of th e name

plainant,

and First avenue, with his wagon,

of PFrankie Cullen went up to him ang had a conversg-

twon with.him.

- On Monday he went to get g warrant for the two de~

fendanis. He went to 67th sStreet ang Saw the Ser-

and there

-met the def endant Pape, who was alone at the time,

Frankie Cullen was also Present. The officer asked

cﬁllen ir Pape was the man he had seen with the pota~

toes, anag Cullen said, "Yeg. He, the'complainant

‘accused Papé of breaking into his stable., They took

Pape to the station house. They went to look for

the'defendant Lacey, ang f ouna Lacey at his own door.

" Lacey admitted that he hag done it, but -sa iq that he

was a little intoxieat eq at the time, Lacey also saig

his back. Lacey

thét Papevcarried the pbtatoes out on:
The def endant Lacey told

and Pape were lockeq upe

‘him, the complainant,




té.‘es was in Mrse. Goodwin's, on the Boulevard between
76th and??'?th Streets. He went to Mrs. Goodwin's

and saw fhe whole sack there. He identified the saeck
by the'mgrk on it, and the letteys ¥Sold,” over the
"Scotch." Nothin‘g_had been taken out.of the sack, ana
he, the compiainant, was positive that the sack was
hise« He did not get the oth er bag back,

In cross examination the complainant testi-
fied that the stable which he occeupied at the time of
th'e loss of”the potatoes had since been torn down.
The boys Had not commenced to tear down the building
on the da& in quest ion, He, the complainant, moved
out of the building before th'eylcommenced to tear it
Adowne He, the complainant, did not Put any mark on

the 'bags himself. It was marked in the market “sold."

This markg however, was on all sacks in the market,

and was a vei'y ‘common mark. Thé bags were regular
size. He had three bags in the stable that had the

sSame marks, but only two were takene. The def endant
Lacey had worked for him, the complainant, for about
three months. It was about a year previous to this

trial tha‘t"Lacey had worked for him. He, the complain-




and
He dig

not know Mrs, Krone, the sister-in-law of the defendant

Lacey;

complainant. The woman -was accompanind by Bape}é
wife when she haa the conversation with him. Pape's

wife offered him, the complainant, twenty dollars, if

he wouia Pompromise the case.

FRANK CULLEN,being duly sworn,

1n the Penltentlary. He had been in the Catholic Pro-

testified that he had never been

tectory three or Tour years before this trial, but he
had been a good boy ever since, and had been peddling
and working in Stores. He knew the defendats from
seeing them around the corner. He~knew the complain-

‘ant; and knew where the complannant's stable was and

had been. He saw the two defendants on the morning

oFf the 4th of March, 1893, on the Boulevard,_about

eight o'clock. The defendant Pape was carrying a bag

of potatoes at the time. He only saw one bag of po-

The defendats were on 76th street when he

tatoes.
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first Sgw them, about a block away from the complaine

ant's stable. He, the witness, had a conversation

with the def endant Lacey on the corner, and he aske:d

lacey, "Where dia you get the botatoes,.," Lacey tola

him he took them, but qgig not say where he took them

from., Hr, the witness, then walked away. He saw the
defendants when they were arrested. At that time he

was accanpanieqd by the complainant and Of ficer Bray,

He tola the complainant what he hag seen the défendants

do.

In eross-examinat ion the wi tness testifiea

that he was thirteen years of age, When he was ten

years old he was Sent to the Catholic Protectory‘, for

Playing truant. He had not been sent to the Protector v

for st ealing, He, the witness, lived at the corner

of 76th Sstreet and the Boulevard,

the witness, saw a rotato Sticking

Pape had it on his

out of the top of the bag when

—,

- e
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shoulder .

coal in the sack. Lacey said to him, the witness,

YHere we got potatoes; does your mother want to buy

" Some Potatoegon He, the wi tness, said, _"No, we don't

frrant nones. That was all that he, the witness, could

He saw the defendant

s about 11 o'clock, cor-

ner of 76th street ang the Boulevard. He an not know

what Lacey wasdoing at that time; s the witness,

- aia nothing. Lacey said to him, Y Come Up and have

& drink;" ang then the officer went Up and arrest ed

Lacey., At the time of the arrest of the 'defendant

the witness, did not hear any conversat ion

Tficer opr the canplainant .

The officer saiq _to‘Pape, "Cor_ne on,w

"What for?v ye,

said after that »

e B L oL




he would giwve or note. His, the witness's, house was
on the conner, and he had seen the def endants sfrom the

window of‘the house, both on the Boulevard and 76th

"street.

GOODWIN, being duly Sworn, testified that she lived at
1,437 Avenue A, between 76th and.77th streets, Oon
the 4th of Mareh, 1893, she saw the defendant Pape.
This was between 10 and 11 o'clock in the morning.
Pape - rapped at her door, and she went to the door.

Pape was alone at the time, Pape. said to her, "Here is

a sack pf potatoes that your husband has bought and

‘sent up here. She, the witness, said, "Who did he

buy them ofp2?n Pape said, "Of me." She said, YAre
you ‘a farmer?t Pape said, "No, 1 am a peddler."® She
then said to Pape, "Well, set them hhere. She

'afterwards delivered the sack of potatoes to the com-

Plainant. On the afternoon of the 4th of March,

the defendant Lacey calleqa at her house, alone. Her

husband was at home at the time Lacey called. Lacey
. said to her husband, "I come up to see was you going

"to take them potatoes?" Her husbang said, "No, I told




you I didn't want them.w She, the witness, then asked

Lacey, "Then why did you bring them here?" Lacey said,

Ybecause he thought my husband would take them." She
said to Lacey, "Do 'you know that 1 wouldn't take any=-
thing that I thought was in the wrong. Here, take
them potatoes away." Lacey said, "Them is all right."
She vsaid, "Why do you want to sell them so cheap?"
Lacey had offeredv then to her for two dollars, and she
‘thought they woﬁld be cheap at that price. Lacey
said he could sell them cheap because he got them on a
bargain. = Her husband said, "1 want nothing to do with
~them, and I want you to take t;hem away." Lacey 'said,
"I will get my friend and come and take them away."
The next day the complainant went and took them awaye.
In cross-examinat ion the witness testified
that the complginant took the potat'oes away on Monday.
She did not see the defendant Lacey at the time that
Pape left the potatoes. She livéd in a tenemmnt house,
and the potatoeé were left in her rooms. When her
~husband got home he told her that he hadn't order the

potatoes, and she then put them in a vacant room, next

to herse.




¢ F. BRAY, being duly sworn, testified that he arrested the
defendants on the 6th of March, 1893. The def endant

Pape was arrested firste. The complainant went t othe

station house and made a report. He arrested Pape

aﬁd tdld-him he was wanted for breaking into the com-
plainant’é stable, and Pape said he did not do it.

.He took Pape to the station house, and Pape was lock ed
up. He, the witness, then went out agaiﬁ, and arrested
the devfendant Lacey, in"7_5th st reet. He told Lacey
that he was wanted for breaking into the canplainant's
stable, and Lacey denied it at firste. On the way to
the stat ion house Lacey said that he was there, and
'that Pape was there too. Lacey said they had the
poyato‘es, and that Pape took one of the_svacks of po-

tatoes to Mrs. Goodwin's, on Avenue A. He, the wit-

ness, went_ to Mras. Goodwin's and saw the potatoes. there
Oon the ‘waj' to court he, the Withess', ask ed Pape where
.the other sack of potatoes was, and Pape vsaid he d4id
not know anyth'ing about it. Pape said he didn't take

any potatoes to Mrs. Goodwin's. ~Lacey told him, the

witness, that Pape tock the potatoes to Mrs. Goodwin.
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' In cross-examinat ion the witness testified

that Lacey told him that he did bresak into th; stable
in question, but that he was under the influen ce of
liquor at‘the time, and he, Lacey, did not rememb ef
whether he or Pape broke ine. The witness Cullen was
Present when he, the witness, arrested Lacey. The
vcomplainant was present at the timAe of the arwrest of
‘Pape, and accompamnird them down to the stat ion house.
_On the way t_o the stat ion house the defendant Papewas
talking to the c anplainant, and Pape offered to pay
the complainant the price of the potatoes if he, the
compla inant, would not press the charge against him,
Pape, Cullen was walking behind them at that t ime.
Pape turred around to Cullen and said, "Did you see me
fvith them?" .and Cullen said, "Yes." . Cullen was then
two or ‘thvree feet l‘oehind‘ Pape. The defendant Lacey
"said that they took the potatoes, but did not say

that they toock them fram the stable. NEither of the
défendaﬁts save .any. other explanation as to where they

‘got the potatoese.

o e S i e e
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E DEFENCE, WILLIAM PAPE, ONE OF THE DEFENDANTS, being duly

sworn, testified that he lived at 420 East 8lst st re.ct.

He had never been convicted of crime, nor had he ever

been arested before, At the time of his arrest he

and his wife were living with his sister. On the night
of the 3rd of March he got home about eight o'clock.
He subsequently left the house and went down to 76th

street and the Rast River, with the intention of get tirg

. & bucket of ecoal from a codl man, for whom he had pump-

ed water the day before. pge got some coal, and took
it to the corner of First avenue to sell it. He saw

a fermer's wagon there, which had dumped five bushels

of potatoes at the East River. He saw a lot of

He went and got another

"little boys picking them up.

half sack of coal, and he sold that. He then went and

got the sack of potatoes andftook them into a hallway.

jLacey had spokento Mrs. Goodman's son about his father

said Goodman would

buying the potatoes, and he, Lacey,

buy them. He carried the potatoes up to Mrs. Goodman.

‘He, Pape, said to Mrs. Goodwin, "I believe that your

'huéband and son said that it was all right.* He,

Pape,'did not say anything to the complainant about




settling the caée, and he had never offered the com-
pla inant any money to settle the case. He never spoke
to the officer abouf the case, He was arrested on
Monday morning, between eight and nine o'clock. He
was not working on the dat of his arrest -- he worked
on a coal-boat but it did not go up that daye. Oon the
Friday night of the alleged bubglary he, Pape, was
working for a man of the name of Naylor, 'who kept a
dancing academy; he, Pape, was attanding the little
soda-water bare. Mr.v Naylor was in courte.

in cross-éxamiﬁation the defendant testified
that he had been living at 420 East 8lst street for
four monthse. . He had been idle during the Winter, and
had been driving a cola cart or an&thing like that.

He w a8 nineteen years of age. He was a plasterer.

He said in the Police Court that he lived at 1,361

"Av.eniie-" A, but that was not true; his r’nof.her lived
there, and he wanted them to let her know of his ar-
rest. . He did not tell the officer that he had not been
to Mrs. Goodman's._ He, Pape had never seen.the of=-
ficer before his arrest. He had never been in prison

before. The Parmer dumped five bushels of potatoes—-—-—

any
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the bags were not all full, some of them were half

full and others three-quarters. He and Lacey Eicked

ﬁp phe potatoes togethere.

In re-difect examination the'defendant tes-
tified that his sisterin-law was not the janitress;
.she did work for the man who owned the house. Her
husband was not the jamitor exactly, he was doing a
little work thefe, cleaning up the rooms, like thate.

Some of the patatoes were good angd some were bad.

) LACEY, ONE OF THE DEFENDANTS, being duly sworn, testified

that he lived at 308 East 75th street. He generally
worked at peddling. Sometimes he worked for the

complainant, He ,Lacey, and Pape picked the potatoes

up, at a dump,in 77th strget near the river. They put

the potatoes in a sack and took them up to a hallway.
They got‘them ouf of the hallway about seven ofclock
énd tdok'thémhup to Mrs. Goodwine. They had pPreviously
asked Mrs. Goodwin's son and husband and they had said
that they thought she would buy them. "They took them
up to her, ahd Pape sold theﬁ. He, Lacey, told Pape.

what Mrs. Ggodwin's~son had told him. To the best of
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_his recollection he, Lacey, was arrested about ten or

half-past ten o'clock. The officer said to him, "Cpme
on, we want you;" He, Lacey, said, YWhat Ffor?" The
of £i cemr s;aidvfo'r breaking into the stable, and he told
the officer that he did not know anything about break-
ing into the stable. The potatoes had been dumped

in 77th street by a farmer; other things were dumped
there, ashes &c, He told the officer that he did
_nqt vknow anything about breaking into the stable, but
thé.t they had a bag of potatoes which they haa gotten
on the dump, in '771:11_ street. He told the officer that
Pape carmried the bag _o'f potatoes up to Mrs. Goodwin's.
He, Liacey, had been a peddler for six or sevén yvearse

In cross-examination the defendant testif® d

that Pape got the bag in his sistexrin-~-law's house.

He, Liacey did not notice whether_the're was YSold;

'Scotch, J. G." on the bag; he was after the potatoes.

JRONIN, be ing duly sworn, testified that she lived at 420
8lst stweet, in the basement. On the 3rd of Marech,

1893, the defendant Pape was living there. On that

night he got home at about half—p'ast ten o'clock. He




1§ft in the morning at seven o'clock. Pape went out,
and then returned and-asked her if she had a bag,
saying that hé ﬁould take some coal up fram the

river; and She gave him the bage. She saw him two or
three times that day, and also that eveninge. She heard

. of Pape's arrest on Mondays. On the day that the de-

fondénts were arraigned in the 5%th street Police
Court, she, the witness, saw the complainant. She

asked the canpla inant what he had agaignst Pape, and

the complainant said.hé had.nothing at all to do with
Papes Aft er the examination.was over the complainant
said to her, the witness, "Now, if you give me twenty
dollars, I will thyow it all up. I have nothing to

say against it."

S Ee NAYLOR, being dﬁly‘sworn, test ified that he had a danc-

;ing academy, in 76th street-néar'Thifd avenue s He

was acquainted with the defendant Papee. Pape had
worked for him, the witness, foar or fTive weeks, Wednes

day and Friday evenings, until 10 o'clock. on the

night of the alleged burglary the defendant Pape left

his, the witmsss®s, place at 10 minutes past ten. The




PR et st

He hag always-found Pape to be tym

stworthy and truth-
ful,

He always watchéd Pahe, but . he always watched

everybody who had that bPosition,

def endant Pape.

8lst Street,

the ccmplainant, wWould let him E0e




Gonrt of General Sessions of the Weace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YOREK.

TEE PEOI?LE OF THE STATE oF NEw YORE

| Wms
&W &Ab-f

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

.lai:e of the ?% Ward of the City &f New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

: day of — W _ in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and ninety- %,z/(, in the —&—lﬂme of the same day, at the
Ward City a,nd County aforesaid, a certain building there situate, to wit, the /G/@% of

s1tu tev-felonlously and burglarlously aid brea.k 1nto ‘and enter, With'intenf; fo'com it omé
thereln, to wit : with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said%c%
o - ~— in the said ' _

» the-n‘a.nd fhere eing, then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry away,
~against the form of the sta,tute in such case made and provided, and against the ‘peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dlgmty




Gourt of Genernl Sessions of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TeE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

W”
@W &/«vuf

indietment, accuse

of the CBIME OF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed asg follows:

late of the %% Ward of the City &f New Y01k in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

’ ) g Af in the year of our ILord one
thousand eight hundred and vinety- % in the ~&~'time of the same day, at the
Wa,rd City and County aforesaid, a certain bulldlng there situate, to wit, the \/G/@% of

v;'g ‘ 1t‘bov1.n¢'a . |
%L/{




SECOND COUNT— .

And the Grand .jfufy a,fofresa,id, by this indictment; further accuse the said

the day and in the year aforesaid,

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on
at the Wa,rd City and County aforesaid, in the 572«77& - time of said da,y, with force a.nd a.rms,

£: the. goods,

there sltua.te, then a.nd there belng found in the W

'a.foresa.ld then' and. there felon1ously d1d stea,l take and ca.rry away, ag&lnst the form of the statute

'1n such case made and provided, and agsinst the pea.ce of the People of the State of New York

a,nd their dlgnlty.




' 'THIRD COUNT:

_And the Grand Jury aforesald by this_indictment, further. cen

of the CRIME OF RECEIVING S OLEN GOODS, commltted as follows

The sald

la,te of the Ward, Clty a.nd‘ County aforesaid, afterwards,

M
to w1t on the da,y and m the. Yyear afore-
sald,.Wlth force and’ arms,

at the Ward, Clty a.nd County aforesa,ld

‘of the goods, chattels and personal property o%é. Zé‘%
by'"a certain person or persons to
iously stolen from the said

Grand Jury aforesa

d_unknown, then lately before felon-

hattels and personal property to

District Attoiney.
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ERASH, M. D.

st
CLARE

et
NCE S. EL

228 EAST 19TH STREET, - .
e\ R ol
Bet. 2d and 3d Avenues,

Orrice Hours:
RSS .
NEW YORK,

TELEPHONE CcALL,—1416 Q.
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(1358)

' Poliee Cougt, i Bisteiet, R )
City av,ncvz;,r County Ll % A‘% .
of’ New Yor-k, }SS' - ;/%% ool W ’

of No. years,

occupatiorn,.... é /5% 7 Mt eposes and says

ﬁ/ ﬁ. = ‘(_ 67 ys,

that on the / aay of.... et / cat the City of New
nty of New York :




District Police Court,

Sec. 198200, %
=

CITY AND COUNTY__.
oz oo

NEW YORK, . ﬂ . .
. .
M%/ (VL %V\ being duly examined before the under-

signed according to law, on the annex&d charge, and being informed that it is her right to -
make a statement in relation to the charge against heen, ; that the statement is designed to

enable  h-en if  he sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h<-y ;
that Rhe is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that heny

waiver cannot be used
against h -t~ on the trial.

Question. What is your name ?

Answer. QWM //W'

Question.  How old are you ?

Answer. M/7 W

—_Question._ Wh ¢,s-wereyouborn?

o Answer.

~___szgvsz_‘w.,\Mheredoyouhveandhowlonghﬂve you resided there? =~ e
ﬁ_._xin&uec_wfzeg/%/ /JZ’W 07/ G%W o

e Question. _What is. your business or profession? e
A )

e Auswer.
ing in_the testimony

Question. _Give any_explanation m‘;l‘__@_i}}’_!llli_flli_REQR@EEQQL@EQESH.‘H?E‘EE?;‘i?!l?l??ﬂ’f

against you, and state an

y facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.
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Police Court,. 4 }é .
' City and County } '»
of New York,

that orn the.

-2 == #

ﬂSﬁﬂFﬂ@ﬁ, v (88 .

2,

S, . :

A

Street, aged.......... years,

A

3 ; being duly swo?eposes and says,
— )
...................... I day of_..///’%v/%f 189%Pat the City of New

Yorlk, in the Lounty of’iy’oﬂc —
¢ . N - F )
% i ; : c - &(M




Police Court,! . 7 Distriet. |

City and Cou/;ztiy} s
. of New Yorre, )

of‘ Woﬁ%- -/é” ’_// éSh;eet, aged... .
. = v )

occupation....:

that on the

Y orle, ?;Wounty of New York
\




"\
; District Police Court.

/

(/% being duly examined before the under-

ggned according to law, on the anne:%/charge, and being informed that it is he_, right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if  he sees fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h ;
that he :L‘rt liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ) waiver cannot be used

against h S on the trial.

COUNTY
YO

B

%SS:

Question— What-is-y,

Answer:

———Question:~"How old-are"you?

Answer:

TTTTTQ#ES 6T

"""" Questions—Wheredo youlive'and how lo ave youresided there? ~ o

- Anuswwer:= " -

T Question. "What is your i s or profession? , -

Answer:
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<SSTATE OF NEW YO”HK &

(JOUN'J‘Y OF NEW YORK,' ss R -» ~

B E P YO ey el

~ ~ @N ENTE PRORTEM gN@UISITI@N
bTa,éenat_/éz\' %ﬁ& %Mg\

MNo— Strcal, i the %/ Ward of the Cety of

New York, in the Cozluéjfof New York, this //74’: day of %&&WL_,

ire the yeas of cur Lord one thousand eight hundred and ?’ 5 before

A SZ /@ Nl yeccern 7 Coroner,

of t/’ze@y and County aforesaid, on view of the body of /| (M A _Qﬂ,un/

) ; o _
In Witness Whereof, %&tﬁc said Fauzers-as—wetl-asihc COXOMY, Lave to this Inguisition
et & /uwza’q and seals, on the day and place aforesaid.

JURORS—

% WMW_
' CORONER 3 oS'

<y .




Statemmt ;f 7%0 (ﬁf’- AQ@LC/ | | now lyeng
dangrerousl'l/ wounded at / 52 %/0‘\ %M'J’\ 2 the ?/" Ward | i
of said City and County, on the //74 — day of “ %M ' 4- 78 Q 3

,C‘ltV and County of N ew York $s. B _,,__,

Question—W hat is your name ?

Answefr-— . A_/ ﬁ‘_ A—Q aeoe”

Questzon—WhmP do vou live ?

Answer— / 57— %ég %g,w 7MMC CZ{—\,.

Question—Do you now belleve that you are about to die?
Question—Ha,ve you_any hope of 1recovery from the effects of the injury you have received ?

-:ﬁl'ns'we?—— A LM M«v J%/CLLWM

Questwn—Ale you wﬂlmn to make a true bt..u‘.ement, ‘how, and in what manner, you came by the
dnjury from which yon are now suffmmo ?

Answer—

OC’ W @—7{7 V§ Ll e %EA%%W

W A/«-/»/ Mé« < ,L«_,(,z ¢ﬂu¢ ﬁ—-’cfza—z——?
b/a.,.;_.ag W& ey /—O—Z/P«._A = %‘%—?C &m
'71«(.4— a-—«-unf 7c_<_e_d/(——e_«mﬁ o—— Lo v e, a_7
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AN _ANTE-MORTEM INQUISITION

[ On'the NYENN of the BODY of

whereby 7

wngured by

ohz 772 2tted
Bailed

Dz‘sc/zargea’




District P L . © Undertaking to appear during the Examination,

NS

CITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK,

An ihformation having been laid before - -.a Police Justice

f Ss.

of the City of New York, charging Defendant with

the offence of ...........

having Been brought before said Justice for an examination of said charge, and it having been made

to appear to the satisf. hould be adjourned to some other day, and

the hearing ther

reet, by occupation a...
‘that the above named,
shall personally appear before the said Justice, at the..

during the said examination, or that we will pay to the People of the State of New York the sum of.... 2" =

Hundred Dollars.




CITY AND COUNTY ),
OF NEW YORK, } S.

2 =

“being duly sworn, -
holder within the said County and State, a1 . “worth__
exclusive of property exempt fi

and that his property consists of

‘wopDUTWDLT” Y7 Burinp
«wwaddo og Luzymrispus
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THE PEOPLE, é&c.
ON THE COMPLAINT OF
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Bl. 261. 3. C.

Coroners®' Office, New ¥ork Coun‘by-.

In the Matter of the Inquest into
the Death

Befor g
YHON. M. Je. B MESSEMER,
and a Jury.

KATE DEAN.

AT X AT RN P SN P e

New ¥York, March 21st, 1893.

Appearances !Mr. Gedney, appears for the

prisoner; Mr. Bradley represents the District

At.'borney .

THOMAS J I_LOYD be:mg called as a witness by the
Coroner, was duly sworn, and testified as follows.
I am a ‘reporter of the Daily News .
BY THE CORONER:)
Q- Do you remember a certain day last week when you came
“to me with this telegram(telegram shown witness)
A , T do. _ . e
o . Q Will -you kindly read 'bhe‘ telegram to the Jury‘é
(W:Ltness reads telegram) _
Q Where did you hahd me that telegram" A In the Court

Room here while you were pres:ld:mg.
ot L

L




Q What hour was thls" A 25 minutes to 12.

Q What did T do9 A You
you had here, amd went right up with me;
-40th arxd 41st street, ard we got up twenty minutes past

adjourned several cases which

it was between

twelve and we waited there a few minutes and a young lady
came in and said we would have to wait wntil Mr. Dean came
ir he was out to lunch; we waited about fifteen mimmtes
more and another lady came in; she ssid she recognized
you and knew your brother; you asked her if it was a case
. of abortion, and she said, no, or if there was any mid—
wife or doctor concerned in it, am she said, no; sghe said
she didn't know whether you could see Mrg. Desn or noi;
we waited about forty-five minutes, amnd finally Mr. Pean
came in, and after going up~stairs he returned and said
you can go un and see her, and talk to her, and you

found Mrs. Dean:: in bed, and you stated you wers a Coroner

cause of her illness; she said she would make a true
statement and made an ante mortem statement; T wag Pres-
ent and heard what she stated. I remember #he statement,
she said her illness was due to the result of a fall; she
fell down in the alley-way and went to a ball some nightsg
later and caught cold; ehe said no midwife or docter was
concerned in the case; you asked her that expressly and
éhe'said:ho; -

Q What time wag it when we went away from the house’

A One o clock P. M. |

Q There were no doctors there that afternoon9 A No,

Bir;  they said ghey;had;gone before_we came there; we

RSyt e
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Wéfe there about three quarters of an hour altogether I
should judge.

BY MR. GEDNEY:-

Q fou'are 2 newspaper man connected with the "Daily News

A Yes, sir. : he
Q And with the (‘oroner as soon ag Fou received word went

to the place where the woman since deceased was then ly-
1ng and you saw her9 A fes, sir.

She seemed ito be in her right mind9 A Yes, sif.

She ayppeared rat1ona1? A Yes, sir;

,éor&ner Méssemer said what - repeat it,again?

The Coroner asked her if any Midwife or.doctor was

concerned in her illness or if she had allowed am abortion
to be performed, and she said, mno, she:repeated it sevér- _

al times, and said she had fallen in the alley and went to a

ball several nights later and caught cold and her xiimxxanna
111ness was the result of that.

BY THE CORONFR.-

Q 4 asked her also how she felt and she said she was feel-
ing much better she expected to recover she'was consider-
ably 1mproved9 A - Yes, sir.

Q She made her statement very lucidlyé A Yes, sir.

BY A JUROR:-

0 What was the cause of her fall, did she slip on the

Y

] ice or what? A She just said she fell going through
the allethay.

The ante mortem statement i read

by the stenographer.

R




SARAH KELLY, being called as & witness by the

éoroner, was duly sworn, and testified as followsf

BY THE CORONER'
Q Whers do you 11veK A I live now No. 749 2nd Avenue .
Q Do you remember on a certaln day last week going into
the house No. 632 3rd AvenueK A Yes, gir.
0 And I spoke to V0u9 - A Yes, sir. |
O I asked you whether there had been an abortion perform-
ed on this Woman? A Yes, sir.
Q What did you sayé A I said, "No, sir."”

O This was in the place where the office is of this man

who is the husband of the deceased9 A Yes, sir.

Q What did you say? A T said he was out at present and

you couldn't go up-stairs.

Q Where did you say he Was9 A T said I thought he went
to dinmer.

é What time.did we get ﬂhereé A éuarter te 12 it was

before 12 o'clock.

{ IR T TG R PR Y s
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Q Po you remember on what day it was9 A Last ﬁbndayu

0 Yesterday a Week? A Yes, sir.

v PO

O Were the doctors waiting for me then9 A They had
gone before you came in.

Q How long hsad they gone9 A About a half an hour or
S0. '

Q How long did they wait for me thab mornimg? A Quite
a.while;

Q0 How long? A  About ahalf an hour.

@ Did they wait six hours? A No, sir.




' Tt was not yet a hald@ an hour? A  TNo, sir .

)
é bBid you state before a Police Sustice what she told me?
A

Yes, sir; 1 was in the bed room when she stated it

to the docioi-'.
@ Why did you state t0o me in that houée that they had
not operated on her9 A I didn't know anything about
it until after they stated it - later in the afternoon
when she stated it to Doctor Adalberg.
'AQ When I asked you, you seemed to be very positive'that
I could not see this lady until her husband came9
A Yes, sir; T d1dn’t think it was very right for you
to be let up—stairs.
fhat was the languagen you usedé A fes, gir.
When I:asked you where he was where did you éay he wasé
To dinner.
How long did he remain; A About a half an hour.
About What time did he come 1n9 A About 25 minutes
to 1 he came in.
Q And you had a consultation with him, didn't you, you
had a talk with himé A 8ir; to say that you were
down stairs.
d }ou and he left that roomé A fes, sir.
Q You went Whereé A We went up-stairs.
é lWhat took'placeé A I wanted to fix Mrs . Dean before
you came.up.
Q Then what nexté A That was all that took place
then Mr. Dean went rzght down and told.you to0 come up .

O Were you present when I took the ante-mortem statement?

A I was in the next room, I d1dn t hear her statement.

v=5_
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Q D1dn't you say +0 me yourself that she was much better

_'bhan she was 111 'bhe morn:tng" A No, eir; I did not'.

'BY MR. C‘FDNFY °

Q Do you remembeX seeing me at the Pol1ce (‘our'b before
Just:lce McMahon" A Yes, sir. .

Q Did you not state there before Just:we MecMahon that an
abortion had been performed‘? A No, sir; I daid
not.

Q D1dn"b you say it before the Judge‘? A VWo, sir; I
said I was present in +he room when she +01d both doctors.
that the midwife had used both fingers on here

Q Th'at 13 your language 15 1t, that is true, as 1t ?

A yes.; sar; "I syated that up in Courte .

Q Didn*t "yo_u say to me when T wanted yc;u to say the only
language you npw use didn't Mrs., Dean probably say that she

had made an examinataion with flr;gers not that she produced
+ abortion . '

‘?.n sipexationx A No, sir; I never mentioned abo;ftfionn

af el st agyoroncid woorto., o Bl

_‘Q, When I w~s hefore Justice McMahen when you said that

‘she had produced an abort}on I sald wx was i not an examinan

tion with the Tingers and didn®t you answerxr nov? A You
daid not ask me that at alle

.Q,- Tt 15 not 2 rleasant 'place for a ladye Didntt I say to
you Miss Kelly as you have tnstif:\.ed now d:.a.n't I say might
1t not be that it was an examination with the fangers?

A Didntt you hear me tell the Judge there that I was with
her when t.he doctor sa-l.d e the midwife had used her fangers?

Q pidn?®t you persist t+that she

A TNe, sir; I dad note




Q +h:\.s Coroner and this jury want to understand that you
now say hhe did not nroduce an abortion but there was an
examination made with the fingers? A Yes, sir; I didn't

speak to you at all; only when I was up to the Judge you

eamé there and asked me —-

Q ‘ You remember seeding that Mr.fiiogaq + up there? A

sir,

Q You did not hear the conversatlon between Coroner

Messemer and her? A No, sir.

Q You didn't hear that? A No, s3sare.

By Mr. Bradley:-

2 Will you please tell us the whole statement +that Mrse

s

Dean made at the time you say she spoke about the midwi fe
'using both fingers? A I heard Doctor Adalberg ask her
that woul&n't she make a statement of that kind 4f she knew

she was going before her Creatoxr, that was after Coroner

Messemer had been there; he saird didn®™t the mad@Wife use any

instrunent at all; she said no. He saad dadn't you see an

instrument on top of her fingers and she saird no,
Q Did she say was she standing up or 1lying fwxm down when

the operation was performed upon her at the time the fingers

were used? A That I d1dn*t hear,

Q Did she say who this midwife was? A She said 1t was
Mrs, Pepper,
No., 220 East 106th

Q Did she say where she belonged? A
Street,

Q Did she say whether anybody accompanied her at all to

" this midawife? A No, sir,

f? .




Q Did she say

how she came to heE brought to the midwifet's

place? A No, sire.

Q Didxzhexyou hear her make any oth

er statement at all?
A No, sir; I did note

Q

Coronexr Messemerxr endeavored to get her to make a state-

ment? A Yese

Q . And he called fTor the statement which was made an youf

presence? A Yes, sSire

Q If there 15 any other laght at all that you can throw

upon this you can tell us? A No,'sir; That s aal I

knovwe

’

JACOB A. LEBMAN, duly sworni-=

I went to the Western Union Telegraph Office on the

Coroner's anstructions to investirgate the despatch and they
gave an official report here which the Coroner can look into,

It as from the manager of the Western Unione

The despatch 25 read to the jurye

e e e == = =0 O

O e — e

JUDSON €. SMITH, duly sworni-

1 graduated from the University of Vermont, 1in 1889.

T have practiced medicine since that time at No. 321 and

337 East 19th Street in thais caity, and been 1nstructor in

B R o
: '

the Post Graduate School,

t
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-Are you conﬁected with any nﬁxxhxx dispensary?
A Yes, S1T¥e
Q Which one? A The Post Graduate in 30th Street., I
was called to see Mrs., Pean at 632 Third Avenue on Sunday
night, March 12t h; I found this woman with a temperature
of 106, with a pulse of 140 and respiration about 30,
Q What time was that? A I got there between.eight and
n ine o'clock, there was no evidence of pnesumonia except
a very few coarsSeXXRIPEWIX tralpens in the lungs; I was
unable to make out exact;y what the xm trouble was from
the physical examination. T asked the woman 1f she knew
of anything tnat would help me tosdet;¥mlne the cause of her
smckness, T © 1d her that she was in a desperate condition
andévery s1ck waman: I told her she had better xzke tell me
if she knew anythinges She hesitated some time, I asked

her when she menstruated last; she told me some three weeks

beforees I asked her 1f she had a very hard time; she said

she dld.. T asked her whether she menstruated before the tim
before that:; she didn't know, She didn®t remember, I .z
akid Mrs., Pean, have you had an abortion? She said Jes.

Now, I said how long were you pregnant? She didn*t know

8xact1§. T said how large -—— could you ﬁell from the mlsSe
carriagé the sex of the child, she said 1towas a malé
child, It»was a twin operation, she saw one, but thevmldp
wife sald tﬁer@ were twp children, I said I shall haie to
examine you. She objected that ¥ insisted, ~She said

she knew that she was all right. I examined the abbHosen

bavcarefodTyLiy there was no marked tenderness; there

was no distention with gas; the vaginal examan&tion revealed

9
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a dilated womb that would admit my finger easilye. There

was somé odor, noi marked, & slight odor. T sald Mrse. bean
the probamilities are that this abortion‘has not been éomQ
Apletea, thexe 1is somethlng 4n your womb and ¥ shall call in

another doctor and see whet her we can do anythaing for you.ﬁ;

I preécfibed for the woman and left here. T called chtor'f
Elsbachk next day and he was out i calied a second time
and. we made an appointment to go up that evening and?xg saw
the woman in the meantimee. ~ Then 1 asked her again where hs
this midwife '

REEXNEeE lived; she told me 1t was a madwife that dad the
operation, bﬁt hegged not to expose her; she told me thas

on hey own SeX, she was 2 fflend, a very dear friend of hersSe
T said Mrs. Dean 41f we could see thas woman and fand oud
whéthr she got all this after birth away 1ﬁ‘m1ght_not be
necessary for an opetatlon on you; but af it had not béen
taken away, 41f she took one away and one was 1ef£ 41t would
pe to our advantage 1o see hera Then she told her name

was Mrs, Pepper and she lived ;x>106th Street --— I forgot

the exact number —= T think 1t was 220; and that was the
woman that did 1t3 I saxd how did she do it3 did she use
iﬁstruments or glve you.nmdicine? She said she did n't use
either, I said how did she do 1t; she said she dad it
ﬁlth hér fangersSe I asked her were you B R EESes stand-
‘ing or lying? She séid I éi@ply sto;d up and she introduced
the finger. How long dld she keep -2t there; she said

fror Tully a minute, perhaps longere I said was 1t possible

“that she had an anstrument in her hand} she didn't say ;

1t might be. I sald did her fingeYr Burt you; she saad <.

k£ et T
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it glve‘her considerable pain and made her bleed a lattle,

"I said did they bring on the miscarriage; hhe said no,

I said did you go back; she sairid several taimes, She said
several times; I.said how long after that did you have a
miscarriage and she couldn't tellme= me definately but she
said three or four weeks; she went there several times to huo
have this operation repeated, I saxrd-1s5 that the only taume
you =2had a miscarriage? She sailid no, this is the thwr d time.
-I said who dad @ before? She said this woman and 1t
always‘worked; the fairst taime, she always used her fingersea
That 1s the exact statement that she made to Doctor Elsbach’
and I together that night, and the'doctor questioned her

the answer being in the form of interrogatory and the
answers thereto, Iﬂ that way she repeated 1t again that
night. 1fyace ‘she admitted to me she t0ld me the name of
the person and once she told me she had an operation without
mentiontng the persone

Q On what date was it this paper was made by the deceased
to you and Doctor Elsbach? A He says I will have to

think a moment, ' I saw her first on Sunday night, I saw

her again on Monday afterno&n; I find the first day I saw
her was the 2&k 12th, I saw her on the 13th in the afternoon
apd I saw her on MOnday with the doctor.and Tuesday morning

we went up and I cureted her, scaaped out the uterus and

Tuesday, night she told us at the time we cureted hef'that»

she told us on Tuesday night again,

Q It was on thais day a week the 1l4th that this statement

was made? A .Yes, S1Yr,

-

Q Did she say anything abaut having been'called upon on

11
! '
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the day before by Dre. Messemer? A yes, Sir,

We asked her the guestion wﬁether she denied 1t to the

Coroner, and she wouldn't reply; She saild he had been there

and she denied it to ham, And the Doctor asked her why

she dia it.

50...ething about her having asked not to make

Q You tela
any statement s about naving an operation prerformed on her

because 1t would expose her? A She said this woman had

been a friend of wrwxX hers for a long time and she would not

want to make her any trouble,

You told us about the temperature and pulse and respira-—

Q

tion? A Ves, sir,

the pulse 140 and resparation
they
d we hardly

Q Her temperature was 1086,

30, The jurymen here T suppose are all layman an

know the normal temperature? A The normal temperature

is 98 /2, and 106 15 a great deal ~-— 1f in a septrec con-—

dit ion, The normal reppiration 1s 18 or 20; the pulse

.15 about 72,

Q Did you make any examination of her praivate parts?

A Yes, sir,

Q Dia thatvexamlnationAreveal any facts that yoiuL. have not

already stated? A fhe next day, Tuesday a week ago to~ .

day, I took out of the uterus about that ~- I have ain my

here 135 what I took

podket which I took from the uterus,

from the woman's womb; it 1s Placental tissue -—— after

birth, T have it here in a bottle, ~We don't know whether

1t ®max 31t an after birth,

.

it was one or two -

By Mr., Eedney:—
. L A

Q ~whén did yquvgfaduateg A In 1889.

7




Q Howlong did you stay in your native State after you
.graduated? A My native 8tate 1is New York,
Q How long did you stay An Vermont? A ﬁot ovey 24 hoursg
Q What boeoks have you read on Aiseases of the womb ~-— ’
midwfery? A A good manye
Q State some of them? A.' Oslen, Roberis and REREEXSX
Pherférs. .
Q Did iou evey read a boeok called PThomass on Cxrimainal
abortion? A I have seen the book, I have read x¥kx parts
of it,
Q When this 1ad§ sa1d to you that she wanted to save herxr
friend didn't want to tell and you sSaid yoil didntt know
. whether thgre was something left in her that should be re-
moved and you asked you said to her 1t would be a good Ahing
to see this woman that you.might act accordingly?
A yes, Sire
Q Why did you go to see this woman? A I didn®t care
t0 see her, Tt as a gaanst the profession, When 2 pEYSONn
has a motive for doing 1t ~-
Q If you believe to be remeved? A I was satlsfled; I
simply wanted her statemente
Q Didﬁ't you say to her y;u wou 4 go to see her and con=-

:

sult with her and get 1t out? A -No, sir, I said 2t

would be perhaps a good thing to go there. T was satisfied.

Q Then 3ou laied to your own PR LETRXTRL patient? A No,

S1Tre

Q You deceived your own payienif A Well, in a certain

~.
AR

_sense, to get the factse. .

I
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You went there and you said she didn't have pneumonia?
Not at the time,.

Did you think she had fats? A No, sire

P

What did you go there for? A I went there te find

out what the trouble wase
that .
Q In order X¥H this jury should know what the word abortion

~-— abontion don't always mean criminal aboertion, does it?

A No, sire
course

Q Anyithings out of the usual Xirimz.of nature i3 an abor-—
tion or miscarriage? A Yes, sire.

Q The only distinction/being kknx-or 413 whether 1t is
crimlnal or some other cause? A Medically there i5 &

'ddnstihgmlan.

’

Q - D1d she ever say to you she had fallen En the yard

*

A She said when her husband called her atéention te at to

fact she said she feil.

Didn'f she say she went to a ball and danced all night?

Yes, sire
Didn't she tell you she X®% left a sick bed and danced
night ? A Yes, Sire
Q Why.didn;t you tell:r fhat? A Because I couldn't
find out from that woman whether it was before or aftere
Q I wanfnto ask you ®Exurax with your two years experinéce
in medicine «e
WITNESS: Feur years a1f you please —=
Q Well me will make it four —— whethér this questien as to

a woman's ailment, and in those organs AS 1t not one. of thé

15




most serious guestions and dafficult gquestions as to sur-

gery and admits of diafferent views and has it not been 2

A Net at all

Ed

scheme upon which the best men have written?

Q It is very plain matter? A The septic condition

1s perfectly Plaine

Q Who was present when this lady said to you there Was two

children? A The first time she said to me she told me

'this whole story was alone and the second and third time was

an the presence of Dr, Elsbach, the second and third tame

Q When she said she had two chiiddren didn't she have two

laiving children - di.dn't she mean her two laving children

at the house? A welle

Didn't she have itwo livang children at the house?

I think So0e

Might she not have meant she had +two children before?

Coulén't zhe say there was an examination made by her?

She didn't, she answered m§ questiione

Is there any seyliuus thing that a woman would examane

Q
A
Q
A No, Sir,
Q
A
Q

with her fingers? A No, saire

Q Is there not 2 prejudace exaisting in the mind of you

phusicians against midwives gqnerally“m A Not at 1 an

my minde
Q Pon't you know as & doctor that 1f there 35 one thing

an this world that a physivian 1S down ©n he s down on it

is the midwives? A No, sir; I don't laikw to work, and
i .

dont care to do 1t if I can get out of 1te

Q poes 1t not interfere with the busL1ness of doctors?

A No, sar.

: e e S gy 4 i o i .
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Q Héﬁ do you account Ffor the prejudice vetween doctors and
midmivés? A I have none; T gon't know that there 18

anye

Q You admitted that at one time she dad say duraing this ex-—
amination +hat she dad make an examination wath her fangers?
A She did not use that expression; she saaid she opened
her womb w1tﬁ her fTingerSe

Q Now, you say that she put her fingexr in hevr womb ?

A I asked hexr that; she said yes, 41t hurt her and made
hexr bleede.

Q . She saird tnere was no instyrument in view put that she
introeduced herfingers?

A She said there were ne instxuments wsEx and 1t was p0551;
ble she had an instrument in her hand that she dadn't sSeee
By Mr. Bradley:i- |

Q Is 2t not perfectly possible to nerform an operation
with the fingers the same as any other foreilgn 4nstrumnent?

K Just as effectaive,

By a Juror:-

Q ‘WwWill thne insertion of the centre fingevy of a man snserted
to the vagina of the woman reach the mouth of the womb?

A yes, S1YXo.

Q ' What‘is geﬁerally considered the normal 1ength. of at?

A "The interioX wall from 3 to 4 inches; We can easily
feelvthe surface 9f the os, and 2t depénds somewhat in the

posataron ox on the posiation the womb 1S 1nj her womb wWas

pretty well downj Wwhen I measured the womb I found it larger

" than 1t ought to be, an inch Jarger than 3t ought to be.

v
|
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The placenta which 15 in a bottlile is

i marked Exhibit A,
By Mr. GedneyP- .
Q Would not a fall have produced the same resu1t~as that?
A Yese |

Q I mnderstand you then to say that an operation which

would be the result of a fall might produce the same thing?

A It might have beene

DOCTOR CLARENCE ELEBASH, duly sworns: —
I graduated at the New York Universaty and the New York
Medical and
Homeopathic Collegee. I graduated in 1891 from the Homeo~

pathic College in .1.881L and I have practhed‘mediclne ever sn

since, I was called in to see Mys, Dean in consultation

with Dre Smath; Mrs, Dean had sent for me formerly and I
sent Dre. Smath to see her, being too busy, and after he had.
been thére he ifaxxeEdxx informed me about it and we wnet

up to see her on Monday evening; I found her with a temper-
ature of 106, pulse about 140 and xEpxxestam resprration3d

or 30, and dilatea pupils and dianhbhoea, a very coated tongue
ahd seeing all the evidences of a very low condition of

her system, Dr. Smith had also guestioned her an regard to
her having had a mascarriage and I followed it up and asked
"hexr if she had an abortion prcduced; she sald she hade T

asked her when; she said in the iatter part of February;

I asked her who produéed 2t and she ==a&x®X dadn't want to

say ' 18
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say 1% T said how do you know that you had an abortion;

she said I do; there was pregnancy and j saw one of the
childrene. T said dad the midwife get Dboth of the after—
births aftexr the children were born; she sa21d I don't knowe
T said this 1S a very 1mportan£ matter; there 18 probably |
someth 1ing 1in yourwzmxk womb which 13 degenerating céusing you
tro uble; T said 4i1d the midwife state to you whether the
two after births had come awaje She saird she told me I was
211 rizht. Then I asked her tbé midwifeks name and afterxr

a good deél of hesitation she told me her name and address,
and she stated she was to see the midwafe four oY fave times,
and went to her house, where she operated upon her and also
that she had done the sane€ thing for her on two or three
different cccasions in pflor casesSe That was on Monday
night,.a week ago to-daye I madeAan appoxntment with Dre
Smith on Tussday, I had an appointment with him to meet him
at her house at ten o'clock with the purpose of removing

the after birth which we suspected was 4n thils womb, and whih

was decomposing and causing baood poisoning, and we proceed-—

ed to remove 1t, We removed the after birth and §xxaw the

result was this greREXT YAl specimen, and DR/ Smith aid

1t we madé a microscoplic examination; then she made 2

statement in the presence of Dr. Smith again in regard to

+he midwife; her condition was becoming more alarming

all the time and I went and notafied Detective Mullarky
he arrested the moddwife o I saw her again puesday evenigg

and I jearned the Coroner had been there and she told her

the statement»She'made.to the Coroner, and she hada fall

19




and the miscarria ge was the result of a falle Now, I
said, Mrs, Dean you are tellang a great many &1f€erent
stories; tell us the truth of the matter; she repeated
then the same story as'on the other occasion, she told us
" about go1ng to the midwafe, and the madwife having produced
an abortion on her on two oy three other occasions, I said
t0 her why didn't youw tell the Coroney the stoxry you told
us?. She saxd,"'I didn't want te expoese the mirdwarfe to the
Coronexra. I smld which story 13 the =truth? She saxd I am
tellaing you the truth; you arxe tryang to save my life,
T have told you the truthe That was Tue sday naight of about
ten o'cleok, The next mgxﬁngxx morning I went there but
-found she héd died shortky hefore my arravales
By the Coroneri-
Q bid you write that letter to me (Showang witness letter)
A Yes, sar.
The letter 218 offered in evidence and
aﬁrked Exhibit Be
By Mr, Bradley:i-— ’
Q vou called upon this deceased woman after Coroner
Messemerx had‘called? A ies, é1r.
Q before_she made the statement to’you with regard to the
midwife having treated her dad you say anything about the
sériousness of her condition? A I dade
Q ‘~Did you ask herxr whether she realized Aow seyious her

condition was? A I darde

Q. What was the answer she made? A She said that she

reaimzed that she was very sicke

20
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A iy
By IHE

Q vDid she say whether or not she wo s aﬁout to die?

A Ng, Sir.; Wwe were endeavoring to save her life, we
didn't want to add to at. |

Q Did she say she was . about ti dre? A On the contrary
she samd she knew she was going to get welle

Q She did give you an explanation of why she ®&xst told

Coroner Messemer a different story? A fes, SiYre

Q Oof the haistory of the case as you heard 1t and from the
diagnosas that you formed in your opinion as to the
do you know or can you give us what was the cause of the

death? A Mosy decidedlye.

Q wHat 4s your opinieon? A That the wman came to her

death by blosd poisoming brought about by an abortiong

Q From the hostory of the case taking her story as she
gave 1t to mm you could you say whether that abortion was
the result of natural causes or criminal abortion?
A That would be impossible to saye
Q But from a digital exsmination the saEMExsEx same result
be caused or achieved? A Yes, siri the same.
By Mr,., Gedney:-
Didn't she say she had known Mrs, Pewnper for a long time?
Yeé, sir.
And did she not say she went to have an examinat ion made
that

She said XXk togethar with something else

That s what you stated te me before Justice McMahon?

yes.




Q Is there not as a-@atter of fact that as we always find
fault with notary publics drawing a document as there mot a
lattle prejudice existing agaainst midwives? A Only from
thexrr coﬁduct.

Q Is 1t not usual among physicrans? A Not specaially, no
sir.

Q At‘any time was this lady deliraous? A ves, SliX.

Q Apd durang the tame of delirium did she make a statement?

no

A She made =xakxkEx statement after she became delirious*
Ve

Q But while talkaing to you her pulse was haght A She had
‘no delirium at the time.
Q She said Mrs, Pepner had treatecd hex before? A yes, 832
Q‘ gbu have said =exEx here which Dr, Smith alseo said that
the same result and the same apyearanées of the womb 15 POSSL—
ble, and the.surrodndings would be the same in casés of a fall
or some natural cause or as it would be in some crimanal
attémpt? A The same gross appearance; you couldn?®t tell
without a m1croscop1ca1'examlnatlon.

Q That you did not make? A No, sir, not of the womb,.

Q There were two 1little children there? A Not that E
know of,

Q Didn't she say to you that Mrs. Pepper Irelpedl her to
bring her children antoe the world? A No, sar; L gian’®t

kndw that until after she was dead; I simply learned that

’

from the papers; T did not know 1t.

— e e e e an = iy e o e = O 0 O
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JOSEPH FRANKLIN DEAN, duly sworn:-

I Live Noe. 652 Thlrd.Avénue, my Occupation is teacher
of musical 1nsfru&eﬁts; the deceased was ﬁy wife, It was
about two months go when my wi fe came up_sta;rs aﬂd the yard
was full offace s She tojd me she had fallen and the fall she
told me there was some blood coming from her and she saiad
she wés ééing away to see Mrs, Pepper: she went up to Q;s.
P?pper and shevtold hef she was all right; and then a few
weeks after she went to beﬁ, that is she did not undress orxr
laie dbwn al tﬁe time, she was feeling badly all the time,
and she was'about sometl@e and then Xz stay in bed four or
flve'héurs. There was a ball coming off and a great many
of our frleﬂds were 1ntgrested in 1t and she got up and went
to this.bail énd sfayed all night. Tﬁe next day she went to
bed; she was in bed four days whén a friend of ours lost a
11£t1e girl and she went to the funeral, and we adx#ix had a
carriage heated --— e had the carriage heated very nicely,
wé had a prepared brick in 1t, It Qas four weeks ag; last
Sundaj I tald her not to get out of the carrlane, and she stod
in the snow there while the servicés was going One, She had
to gé toﬁbadaagﬁmn. She was sSick off and on, and on Sunday,
last Sunday she seemed to be getting very ill and she told
me to send for Mrs, Pebper. T sent for Mrs, Eaggggx Bepper

and she came down, and our famlly DhYSlclan died and I asked

her if she could recommend me to a physaciang she samd no,

the physicians she knew was up town; there was a young man

dpwn stairs he told me about Dr, Elebash, he treated him and




he was a good doctor; he was not an and he referred me to
Dr., Smith, he came up an®t got there about half past elght
o'clcok. He told me she was a very sick woman, and he sa;é‘
he would call in the morning and bring Dr., Elebask to consult
waith him, And Dr, Smith came about eight o'clock and about
10 wkiwmmakxx o'clock the two doctors ;ame and I asked him how
she was and he saild she was very bad; he said there was abou

three chances out of ten for her living, In the afiternoon

they thought she was better, and the rext day they said there

was no hove,

- By a Jurops-~

Q How long ago did hhe have a miscarriagé? A About g i ond

month ago,

Q H'Whén did she die? A Last Wednesday.

Q About three weeks before she &id a miscaxrriage? A Yes,
sir.

Q Three weeks after that she had a miscarriage? A Yes, s

Q She had a miscarriage before the funeral? A I am not

positive about the funeral,

Q Did she have a miscarriage before the ball? A I don't

think so.
By Mr, Gedney:-
Q Before she went to the dance or when? A There was some

blood that flowed from hef, but she had the mascarriage afterw.:

wards.

By Mr, &edney:— . .
Q Did you sﬁay-atbthisfball all night‘long? A yes, sar;
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T aidntt feel 1like dancing and when T wouldn't dance she would
get some fyriends of our to dance witn here

Q Dld’She dance on rmrpose an order to get this miscarriage

on? A She dadn't say that; I dont't knowe
By a Juror:i-~
Q What about this miLdwife? A I knew she often called on

here

Q You’didn&t know TOY what purpose she called on her?'

A No, Sire

Q By the Coroner:i=

Q Dé you remembex whén.I got up there? A Yes, SiY¥e
Q ¥ ou remeuber what day 2t was? A Monday, I think;

‘Q -About what hour aid I see you? A I ahd been out to

B . _ twelve o
dinner, it must have been 2 1ittle after xR otclock o

.

Q pian't I ask you at that tame whether she had an aportion

committed? A Yes, SiY¥e

. What did you say? A Not that I knew ofe

Were you present when I took her ante-mortem statement?

[

Yes, Sir.’

Yes, siv.

Q

Q

A

Q She wWas quite clear and quite lucad =kkxat the tame?
A

Q

What did she say? A She said she had 2 £all, and she
thought 11 brough£ on that'm;scarriage and you asked ﬁer 1f sh
took any medlclné or An fact used any anstruments ané'sbe
saird ho{ she said she thoughﬁ she would get weli.

Q She had amproved considerably? A She knew she Was v exry

pad 1in the morning; I came in erying and she said what 238 th

matter Joe, am I gomngség_die?' I éaid no, you are getting

e et & e sremmtn i ra 5]




better.
By Mr. Bradley:-—
Q  How long havg you been a married man? A Fave years.,
'Q;. How many children? A Twoe
Q Héw many dead?‘v A One, o
. very

Q Died of a result of a miscarriage? A No, at was sxeEX
=2 weak when 1t was born.
You have met Mrs, Peppef? A Ies, SiYe
Q How often? A I thaink three times;
Q How often s ince the Xximex death of your wife? A A week
ago to—mbrréw.
Q Have you Sseen her since? A I saw her thas mornlng.
Qv.Did vou have any conversation wath her? A I shook ﬁands
with her, and shevaskéd me about the l;ttle boy and g;rl, and
she asked.me 1f I would gave her the little girl.

Did you consent? A No, sire

Has anybody came to you and spake to you of this matter?

No, sir; nobody said anything to me aﬂout 1t at all,

Did you ever go with your wife when she WEnt-to Mrs, Pepper

No, sir.

xou don't know'what went on? A No, s3air,

Were you veesent hen you wife made thas sfatement to

N

Dr. Elesbash and Dr, Smath? A o, sir; I went into the roon

once when they were fmne.

Q She told you she fell in the alley way the same as Dr,

Messemer?. A Not the alleyway, the yard,

R You were not present afterwards when she was Anformed how
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.. T heard 1t once, in her statement that Mrs, Pepper had put
-

serious her condition was, and about the importance of tellang
the absolute truth fof the matter as her very lafe might depengd
upon it? A When I took the two Doctors an I said, here you
want to teli the doctor everythning you know; then I went in th
next roome |
Q You t&ld her you wanted her to tell the doctors everything
she knew? A Yes, SiY¥e.

Q You didn't tell her of the apsolute i1mportance that her
11 fe or death maight depend on the m tter? A No, Sire

Q And has Dy, Elebask and Dr, Smith told you she informed

them that Mrs. Pepbers fangers had been antroduced in her womb?

her fingery in hér.

Q Did she say what followed then? A ¥No, sar; I only
went 4in the room angt Ainstant, |

Q You didn‘£ tell her anything about twin birth, about her
having seen one of the children herself? A She told me t ha]
Q Bne told you that? A Yes, Sire

Q Did she fell you how the mlscarriage had been accomplished
A No, sare.

Q You say you are uncertain whetherxr the miscarriage t ook
place before or after the tame you went to the ball?

A Now, that I rermamber it I know ;t,togk place afterwar@s.

Q What reffeshés your recollectaion? A Bhe has no£ Beeﬂ o]
of the house since shevhad the mméearft@g@-< |
Q@ You did not recollect 1t before.

By a Juror:i-~ o |

Q Were you pleased at the misaaryiage Oor contrary to
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A It was nothing to me one way or the other,

Q - Were you pleased at her having this mascarriage? A

Sire.

Q You felt sorry for 1t? A I wanted to have another chil
Q You were not agaanst having another child? A No, sir,
By Mr.rBradley:~

Q Do you~know how long your wife had been without her menstru
al courses before the time you went to that ball? A No,
sir; I know she told me a little blood had been flowing from
her; I thought that was her courses coming on, “
By a Juror:-—

Q You don't exactly kﬁow whether she had é mascarriage or
not? A No, 51r; only from what I ' ard —-~ yes, I did too,
she showed me the little children; Bshe showed me one of the
lattle children,

Q How big was at? A Abou$ that size (Aindicating the saigze
of a fainger)

By the Coromer:-~-

Q Was at a formed child? A You could see the legs and

the 'arms,.

Q By a Juror - Was Mrs, Pevver in the house at the time sh
had the miscarriage? A Not at the time she showed me the
latile ones, but I knew she was there; I knew she was in the

house when the miscarriage océurred; they wer e, twins, she

had dﬁé'birth and then had another later ones
By a Juror:-.
Q How many times was Mrs, Peper there previous to thilis mis—
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carriage? A T seen her there about three timeSe

-

Q Did she come an always oY only on those occasions?

A She would drop in —- when your wife was not in the family

way at all would she come into youxr house? A y€5» sLY;

she would step 1le
BY a Juror:i-

Q Was she sent for when this miscarriage occuxrred? A She

waz sent for three ©Y fouy timeSe

Q . Before thistniscarrlage? A BefTore the mascarriage and

after the miscarriage.

Q “was youy wife acquaxnted with thas Mrs. rapper before

ﬁarriage? A Not to my knowledgee.

Q How dad she become acguainted? A T don't knew; she

. she would go
went around 2 greatl dezl, from pne place t© another e

Q Was Mrs., Pepper introduced as 2 midwife? A Not that I

By another Jurors:—

Q Did Mrs. Pepper act 28 midwife for the birth of your two

children? A Yes, sire

Q You heard youxr wife at that tame when she was'cauxxoned to

tell the truth ydu told hevy yourself you say you
N that
it =—-did you say at =% taiume youheard her say to the doctors

neard her say

that Mrs. Pepper made an examination with her faingers?

A Not at that time; At was at one tame when the doctors

were'ﬂﬁguemaﬂtaswat&s.
heard . . Ce :
Q You mastexhex say to the doctors wvhat? A Mrs. Pepper

examined heyr with hex fange¥rsSae

1
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You spoke about the tlme when the bloed commenced‘to flow?
Well —-—
Did that funeral take plaee after that? A yes, Sir.
And after this blood commenced to flow she zmrexr went to
the funeral and got out of the carraage where she ®md her feet
onaxAX a warm brick and put her feet on the clold snow?
A .fes, Sir.
Q It was after the blood commenced to flow she went to the
ball and she danced till faive ofclock in the morning?
A Yes, sar,
Q Did she complain of xkxx long of this fall? A No, s3ir.
Q Did shé-hurtgherself anywheres after ? A She saad she'
had a bad feeling down here and told us somé blood was coming
fram 1t after the fall,vwiwe ik
Q Gice me that'exactly? A She said ahe had a bad feelaing
dowﬁ here and that was after the fall,
By Mr, EBradley:-

Q After she saxrd she had the fall? A ies, sixr,

Q But the fact is that she talded upon Mrs, Pepper before thLA

blood began to flow from her private parts, she had already

called upon Mrs, Pepper? A Not nefore she had the fall to

my knowledge.

By Mr, Gedney:-
Q She did not call on Mrs., Pepper until after she complained

of thas fall and the‘blood commenced to flow? A Not to my

knowledge,

Q fTO your knowledge she'never called upon Mrs, Pepper as a
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midwife until after the bloed began to flow? A No, sir.,.

Q (By the Coroner:) When she made that statement she had

“
not made her confession? A The doctors were ithere On.MgBd@#

and teold mm to get a.prlést, she made a confession after you
went awaye.

Q The statement to the docteors was after the confession to
the priest? A -I don't really know when she did make the
statement.

‘B; Mr., Bradley:-

Q .The priest was called 2in the qeantime? A yes, six,

Q . The fagt is yvour wife was 2 commurilcant of the Rorian
Catholtc. Church? A Yes, sire

Q .Did any pfiest call upon hér’after COronér Messemer was
there? A Yes, sixr, éalled twice,

Q After the priest cailed did Dr. Smith and Dre Elebash

call there before her death after the praiest called? A Yes

sir; they called after the praiest called,

By Mre. Gedﬁey:— |

Q Wasn't she delirious twelve hours bédfore she died?
A Avpout that, yesa

Q Are you véry sure about that? 'A T dadn't see the pries]

‘the first time he came; T saw hAm the second time he camee.




By

et DA s ) ey

He gave me the name of the midwife and where she lived and

Q . Dad Mrs., Pepper say anything at all then?

OFFICER BERNARD MULLARKEY, duly sworn:-—

I am a specaral officer of the 21st precinct: about
11 o'cloék on tﬁe 14th Dr, Elebash came to the station house
and reported there ﬁas a woman dying at 633 Thaird Avenue from

blood poisoning caused by an abortion performed by a midwife,

the number where she lives and I_arrested her and brought hexr
down before this woman that died, She 1dentafaed her as the

woman that examined her on four different occasions, I

arrested her at her house, I dad not tell her at that time

what the charge was, Dr., Elebashk a:ked the woman that was

dying what thais woman had done to her and told her to tell the
truth,  She sald she went up to her house on four different

occasions to exsmine her, she examined her woth her fingers,

A She conmend

ed to dry. Mrs, Pepper saxd to her to tell the truth, Mrs,

-

Pepper said to me that when she was called there she recommendd

her to get a good doctor,

Q Did the deceased change-her statement at a2ll after Mrs,

Pepper said tell the truth? A No, sar.

Q Did Mrs, Pepper make any explanation at all?

she was verw much excited,




WILHELMINE PEPPER, duly sworni-

T 1ive No. 220 East 106th Street; and my occuaption 1is
midwife, T knew the deceased two yearse. 1 became acquainted
with her, I was a friend of hers, a customer of hers, she got a
baby at-that tame and she told me she was S50rYy she daid not
know me at that tame because she would give me the case; so Inb
last January Mrs, Dean came and told me she saw s1ince k=X since
a couple of days a laittle blood; she got a fall and she was
passed her taime for being unwell, 1f I could do sométhlng for

her to peliewve here She had a bearaing down pain; I said to

her you are noet in the family way, maybe you hurt yourself
An the fall, I said the blood shows youxr unwell 1s to come;

T said to her are you soryy you are 1in the family way; she

said no, I like a babye T said then keep guiet. Then Mr.

,

Dean called +to me and he told me she was unwell a lattle,and

2

Fxtkxuxafter going to the ball, and a thing passed away;

ST

I gidn't examine her at all and even she didn't sh ow me the

At

thing. ‘T said why did you keep 1t from me and she said becau

1t was swelling, and that 1ast Sunday Mrse Dean was in her bedr

PRI RT

voom, dressed in bed with a wrapper on; T went in and said

what is the matter and. she said I don®t- feel Ermugkk-at alle
good .
T said why don't you send to a doctorand-she said our physaic—

s sl

1an is dead, donTt you know a good doctor? I said I am not'T

midwife that has a doctor, people are inore pleased if they

-get Eheyxgpetx thelx own doctor, I gaxd T wall look an to-

- MOYYTOW3} put I dadn't call I was too busy, and on Fuesday I

Elebashe

was afrested énd brought te the deceased with Dre

“
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T said tell the doctor truly what happened here,. Dad you evej
have an operation and she said no, I sard to her how did I
examine you; with the finger, She sald nothing else, I

,

told the doctor that she dixdn't ask for an operation and I didy
findish the operation,

BY a Juror:-
Q Were you not there previous +to that before, a year'or two
before and examined her? A Never; the bables were brogpght

the woman
by some perscns I didn't know —— and xke never asked me, she

1s a strict Catholac,

BY a2 Juror:-

Q _.Did she tell you she had a miscarrailge before this one?

A No sir; it couldn®t be, she couldn®t nurse the child

sti1l1ll along,.

San a woman become pregnant while she a1s nursing a childa?

It 1s very seldom.

(By Mr, Gedney:~ ) You are a professional midwife?

Yes, sar,

And you treat a gfeat nugiber of families in New York?
Yes, sir.

r

And people whom we call the Tirst familaes, people of

influence and wealth? A Repulaxr confainement cases, nothing

else, :
. . of , , : .

Q People ¥axe wealth have your visits and respectibirlityy
and character? A Yes, Sir.

Q You knew this lady before this? A ;I cammeot exactly say
how long 1f.was, 1t was very long, because she said she was s0u

sorry she could not get me to attend to the babye
34 ‘
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10,

'Q And when she. was sick you did not suggest any doctors

doctor; T said you should send out for a good doctor; she sai

'Q Do you know what that is? (showing witness Exhibit I.)

Q Did you at any tame oxr any place perfoxrm any criminal
abortion? A No, sir; I have not- any Anstruments in my
house; I am a German, I am not a midwlfe that has those kind

of cases, I neveryxr did.qr never doO.
for her? A No, sir; I said why don't you send for a good

I would af I knew where to send.
Q What did she s ay about this fall? A They gét a water-—
closet 4n the ayrd and she went there when it was slippery and
she saii she got such a knock, she thought she wouldn't get
ﬁp?again; and sxncé'jhat‘FMme she said she had a flow of

_ deagaaed
blood; I said to theﬂxxna:xﬁ you must keep gqu iet. if you want
to keep that, you are a straict Catholic you must keep quiet,
A That s an & ter b;rth; that i4s not an after blrth; at
1s a pirece of the after barth,
Q It was taken out by the dactors? A Yes, sire.; ' when

Dean called for me on Sunday I examined her and there

not a show of Blood or anything.

Q What I want to ask you is this, that could flow the result

of the fal;? A les, sir.

By Mr, Bradley:i-—

Q How long had you known Mrs, béan ﬁéfore her death?
A :Ewd‘years, not exacfly two jears..

Q How often had ;he'dalled'at your.house? ' A A couple of o K

times, w;th the children last Januarye
Q About how long ago? A About threé monthse
35 . .
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" member when she esame, she wished me a ﬁappy New Year,

Q
A
Q
A
Q
‘A
Q
Q

. she was in the_famlly'way.

. Q Di& you cd& 1 and see her after that? A

Q About 1in January was the first taime she called? A I re~

Q 'fmhe farst tine she ever called at your house was.mn Januéry
A 'ﬁk£,“she came i4n with the children to see mes

‘Q fhe farst time was 1t in January? A Ii'd:, sir; within a
couple of years a couple of times,

How long an interval elapsed ﬂetween the %kws times 7

Almost two monthse

How many times had she called at your house altogether?

Only once in Januarye

How many tnnes-altogether did she call at your house?
I cannot tell youe

ﬁoﬁyou thank a dozen times? A ho, S1re

Half a dozen? A Something like that, tBhe was & friend
of mine, I loved her,

Q She was friendly with you? A Yes, sare

Q She first told you abhout her having mlssed hey monthly

period —-A.when she came after ghe ®£xk fall ~- she compla ned
of pains in the wombe. |

Q Dia you lLook in her private parts at all? A Never,

Q You didn'¥ have any Anstrument? A No, sar,

fingers - .
Q You had your kmsxmexx there? A The finger to examine if]

Q Did you put your finger in her pravate parts? A Sure
to‘examlne herz

Q Dia dhe compialn of any pain then? A No, sir; only

bearing down painse.
After she sent

36
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for me -—-~ maybe twomwmmhsulameéﬁ

Q Did you make any exmninatloﬁ then? A She ®© 14 me
inecé passed and she was a littile unwell, on my advice I
her to be éuiet.

Q Then yéu,told her to see a good doctor? A Yes,'slr.
Q Did you tell her her condition was serious? A yes; 311
Q When you came back with Officer Mullarkey di Xim you heaf
her stafement? A She saxd-I went to Mrs, Pepper after falls
ing in the ayrd; she made the sfstement she fell, and she
weﬁt up to see mé'ﬁhat was the matter, because she had pains

‘from that fall; she dadn't say I operated on her, '
Q Did you make any examination? A She saxd I examined he:
withlmyvfingers. | |
Q At that time did you say anything at all? A I told he:
to tell the honest truth to theDetectives and the Docﬁprs.

Q You didn'¥® teil then what occurred? A No, éir.. |

Q In a Police Court you didnT®™t tell them oeccurred? A

sair,

Q You saw your counsel since 3eceral ilmes? A xes, SAr.
Q And now for-the firast time you come and make your explanaw

tien of it, 1sn't that true? A Yes, Sir,

Q Is 1t the farst tame in a publac place that you make any

explanation of 1t? A yes, S1ire




DR. CONWAY, duly sworni—

I am a Coroners phyémcman. I made an autopsy'on the
body of Catharine Dean. I found evidences of.septlc peritoni-
tis féliowing blood poxson;ng. EIn the womb proper < found a
pirece of gauze evidently been Antraduced by the physlclanslfor
the'pa;pose of draining, and alsoe a large piece of membrane

the residue which had noet been removed, The other wrgans

there was nothing special; the cause éf death I wall say was
septic peritonitis fellowing an abortion,

Q What kind;of aé gbortaron? A From the saze of the uterus
about two and 'a half monrths.
Q By Mr. Qedney:;‘ | |

Q You made this autdpsy? A yes, Sir.

Q Did you at that tire Ffind any trace hark or evidence of

any criminal abortioh on that lady? A Nonewhatevere

r
-

By Mr, ﬁradley:—‘

Q There 1s nothing to préve in the ma@orlty of these cases’
whether it was ctiminal abortion or one that had taken place
from natural or acciadental causes except from the hastery of

the case? A We have nothing to do wath the hastory of the

T cAaASeSe

Q TIBsztherecanwy, evidences as a rule? A Very often there 1+.

A criminal abortion may be ﬁgiformed in such a way which
wouid'leave noamaﬁk in the autopsy? A Yes, s1r. -
BY Mr. CGedney:-

'Q  Butn there_is.dame way to détect At where there 15 s ome

wromg done? A Not always.
Lo T A 38




Q But in this case there was not the sllghteét mark? A Ne,
sir.

‘Q This.heregin the boettle, what 45 1t? A That 1s a poYr—
tioen of the residué, it had not heen removed,

Q It was not removed by the decteor? A Itlprabably didn't
have a cﬁance to get away; 1f 1t had been removed the woman
would have had a better chance for her 1liTe,

Q How long have you been a doctor? A 26 years,

~

Q Is 1t.hot the custom of the tierows in medaicine to assume

that he know all about a womb desease? A Well, when I was a

tierow I thought so.

Q . How long have you been‘ﬁeputy Coronexr? A 10 years,

,

Q And the examination of this wman did not reveal one single

fact to prove that it was a criminal aborition? A ,\No, S1Ye
By a Juror:—~ . |
Q When a ﬁoman has‘a miscarriage whether an operation or nd:
i5 there not likely to be blood p01soning if the after birth

is not'removed2 A A natural abortion, an abortion not pro-

duced by iAnstruments as a rule would not cause any trouble or

unless a portion of thexzxxiuwe residue had remained; 2f the
. ) _
membrane remains a1t 1is liable to bring on blood poisoninge.

We use the term natural abortion and separate from craminal

abortion; anything tha%'does not produce a child at +the proper

it before the time 1

time in the preper way 1is an abortion; af
is called ainiscarriage,_byxgﬁe-don‘t use 1t,  The after b;?ty ‘

I don't think it .coudd have

was xkxnnikk siréng1&fadﬁereh

been removed, .

f




The Jury then retired and brought an th

following verdict:

TS A e S S —

VERDICT: WE FIND THAT CATHARINE DEAN came to her death at

No. 632 Third Avenue, March 15th 1893, 11,20 P. Me;

from septic peritenmtans Ffollwwing an abortion caused
by an aecirdental fall sometime Drior to thevabortion,
and we exonerate the prisoner and midwife Wilhelmaine

 Pepper from all blame or connection therewith.
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Question—Have you any

hope of recovery {rom the effects of the > injury you have received ?
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Question—Are you willing to malke a true statement, how, and in what manner, you came by the injury
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

commitied, and that there is sufficient cause to belieyg the,within na,md_...

A

Luilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same, and he be admitted to bail in the sum of
Hundred Dollars, —......._. arnd be commitied to the Warden and Keeper of
Xhe City %son of the City of New XYork, wntil he give such Dail.

Dated, A e 189 - _Police Justice.

I have admitéted the ahove-nanved

to bail to answer by the wundertaking hereto annexed.

Date@, e I8 e ———ee e eeee_Police Justice.

There beirnd no sufficient cause to believe the within named
-..guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Dated,.. Police Jz&str?qe.
: ST ssl




Dated,

_Magistrate.

Officer.

.. Precinct.




I have admitted the ahove-namned.

2o bail to answer by the wndertalking hereto annexed.

'.'Dq{éed, 189

There being no sujfficient cause to believe the within named

ZSuilty of the offense with 72

and Keeper of

Justice.

——eee . Police Justice.

mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice. -
1881
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@onrt of General Sessions of the Peace

=

OF THE CITY AND COUN TY OF N EW YORK.

o«

‘THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW Y ORK;j;

rl .

-« against

: of the crime of

-'j.t

corhmitted as follows:

bl B B e
k3 A

The said

B . PR N - _— /
e a

3J j” T T - - ' - "\" "

late of the City of New York, in  the County of New York, afoi'esaia, on the

: L :ﬁ e S N N
W day o: 'WW in the yeal of our Lord one thousa,nd

UU R T S ' ™

R .
eight hundred and—elg—h—tyuw @/ , at the Clty and County aforeszud
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DESCRIPTION:

Pierce, James

DATE:
03/08/93

Ik

4702
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rree wredl - 1012

Policé Court—: T District. ' '"A‘fﬁdairit—Larceny.

(!Ian anb (Lﬂlllttjl}
of Aoty Pork,

.. Street, aged S\ .22 .. . years,

beiivg duly sworrn,

2, é?z rday Of e o @/ 189 & the City of New

was feloniowsly taken, stolen and carried away from tle possession

e, the following property, viz:

"

--'v/
PO S

I(-//_ /’ /////'//

//"

4

o

M%;mg

7
‘QuL 240f;

s

s
= ”’”;fé’

é&&nd_does suspect, tWid property was feloniously talken, stolen
2. < . 4 _/(__Q—y% (/074 k:




: [ () 12 9t 940foq usyny

ot o

. District Police Court.

being duly examined before the undersngned

ccording to ]a.w, on the a.nnexed charge; and being informed that it is h Tight to make a state-
ment in relation to a charge against h ; that the statement is designed to enable h 5 if  he
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts a.lleged against h that he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that h % waiver cannot be used against h “Jon the trial.

Question. What

Answer.

| Q,uesz'?zo}iﬁld are you?.__

Question': Where were ¥ou born?

Question. Where do you l1ve }nd how long have you resided there ?

Answer.

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. - / "

Question. G-1ve any e{la.na.'(uon you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony” a.ga.mst you, and state any fa.cts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer. Y

///&W___

/




commitied, and that ihere is sufficient

mg @

I have admitted the ahove-namnved

o bail to answer by the wndertaking hercto anncxed.

Dated, .. 189 . Police Justice.

.There being no sujfficient cause to believe the within named...

. Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged,

Dated,.. — . Police Justice.

1881




BAILED,

No. 1, by .
. Street,

Lesidence _____
N {I

No., 2, oy.

Residence . 8treet.

PEOPLE, &

...Oflicer,

Precinet,

- Strect.




Toart of @Bmeml §v5510u5 nf the Fearce

OF THE CI'.[‘Y AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

~

The Grand Jury of the City and &u}nty of New York, by this indictment, accuse

ey S -
of }:he CRIME
as follows:

The said

. late -of the“City of New Y01k the County of New York aforesaid, on the
; "vda,y of ..

_ “N—in the year of our Lord omne thousand e}
R nmety—

T T e e v Rt T e e e s

SR ,ﬂ~=_.~~m=m w

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did ste

al, take and carry away, against

the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

. . A . AN
of the State of New York and their dignity./@c Y4 .




DESCRIPTION:

Pierson, John H.

DATE:
03/23/93

AT
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]

[HE IROOSEVELT BOSPITAL,

B9TH STREET AND NINTH AVENUE,
JAS. R. LATHROP,

SUPERINTENDENT.
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YOREK,

of No %

occupatlion

that on the

at/ize ity %z W

- PoLd

-~

CE.COURT,

0




THE PEOPLE,
oON COMPLAINT OF

%M VER 74@;1;“*‘*?

Disposition,




Police Coﬁr—t— @ . Dist;iot. .
@ity and QLnnntg % .
of etw JJork, o

of No. t‘;/ /q é‘ / ? Sheet aged

occupation

, : < bez’;zg duly sworn
deposes and says, that on ... /é ............. day of. %ﬁ IS%th the City of New

York, in the County of New York,

years,

with the feloniovs intent to take the life of dqyoncnt or to do Lim grievous bodily harm; and without

.anyg juszzﬁcatzon on the part of the said assazlant

Whercfore this dqyonent prays tﬁaé ﬂbe sazd assazlamt mag/ 6e%aﬂekmakd-ml bound to answer
for the above assault, etc., and dealt with according to Zaw

ES

o Sworn 2o Lore me, t7u"s /\9 _day %

f - €y 18;7]
Wﬁ Police Justice.




5

Sec. 198200, - o ' ) ; e District Police Court.

CIT JAND COUNTY |
o E ORK, | 5%

- being duly examined before- the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge ; and being informed that it is h ~——right to
make a statement in .relation to the charge against h "sthat the statement is designed to
enable h ~= if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h _waiver cannot be used

against h __— on the trial.

__Question. What is your name ?

Answer.

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. : \éd__%

Question. "Where were you born ?

Answer. W

Question. Where do you hve a.nd_ how long have you res:lded there

322 h, 3F

Question. ‘Vha,t is your busnleqs or proi’esmon

Ans'wer

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

“testimony against you, and §taté any facts Which you "think Wwill “tend to §jour
excunlpatlon?

! | '

|

"SUY] Ut 940459 :zwam/;
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Qe be admitted o bail in the swm of
-and be commiitied to the Warden and KReeper of
Zive such bail.

Police Justice.

I have admitted the above-named..

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

Dated. ..Police Ji z'asﬁce.

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within aanved....

[ 5

gwilty of the offence within mentioned. I order v to be discharged.
Y 7er L . <

i

LPolice Justice.




2

Police Ccur‘g am

THE PEOPLE, &c.,
ON TILE COMEBLAINT OF

BAILED,
No. 1, by

Lesidence .

No. 2, by

Residence ... . Strc_et.

e e —  ————————————

No. P, by

Witnesses

No. Street.
. Residence . Street.

Street,




Court of Genera.l Séssiens. :
City and County of New York.

Part n.
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The People
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sndaiotment giled March 25rd, 1893
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,W]ALTER Joaxsou. ca.ll.edbythe pz‘osecntian.

being du).y swcm, teat:.ﬁed that. he was a 1abarer and
lived ot Ho.3IO Wesz ust strect. B\e tendea Purnsces

for houses abont the nesghbazheoa. 'on the I6th day
of ﬁ'ebmary, about 161 50 e'aloek, “in the momins. he

was in Eigl;th a.venﬁé', gbi{ng' dow to BAth street. He
was at B9ih street when ome one’stiuck him with their
fi'st.' e, the w:.tness, fu;zéled a.round a.nd saw his asse
lane was the defendm:t, “$hom’ he ‘did not’ persona.uy
know,' bnt had seen in the street. The defendant said,
* I am going to kill’ you®, and geve hiii a rake across
the left 'side with the 13tti¢ blade of & knife. The
defendent then struck him in the 1eéft thigh with ehe
.knife. . He, _the’ witness, ha-d .na words with the defenw.
dant. The defendant struek him f’i'rs‘t. before he said
_he was going to kill him. ‘the _:W;ltne.‘as. 'In eross-ox-
amina.tion the witne.-s testifz.ed{ that when he was stab-
'bed. he mede an outery and a erowd ‘éame. The defendant
Pan and & pouéemén ca.ugn-k B, 'me pou.eemm brought
Ahe defenda.nt Back and Bey ‘ine wunes.s, said thet the.

'defena.ant ha.d gt abbed Nim. The defendem had the

s
R i «3 . 2;:




knife in his hand theny but it was. closed. : ,When' he,
tne witneas, sa.i.d ttxa.t the defenda.nt had st.abbed h:i.m,

the defend.a.nt Sa-id nothing. 'mey weni. r:.ght to tne

stataon house then and he > the witness, il taken to

Ruosevelt Hes;:ita.l z.n an ammlame. At the h9§g§.t9;
they examined him a.nd shoveé. h:;.s 'gut.s" ba.ok into him
a.nd puat him unde:r the inf}.uence of ether and ﬁ.xad hm
up. He was in the ho_sp;tal‘fouz: weeks. He ‘..x}a.d.:}ev:‘e_lz:_
'ha,',d an.y ta‘ik_.- with the dei‘endant, m; “had spoken 10 "
him in passing him by in the 'street. ‘He did not meet
the defendant scmewhez'e nea.r Eighth avenue and 38th
street, on t"xe Iﬁth af r‘ebmary end: tell him that if
he said a;nything' ~more~to -him-a.bout $I5 he, .the witness
w:ould eut his guts cnt. rxe, _the thness, p.ad not  seen
the defenda.nt or had words wﬁ.th him before the- day the
defendant stabbed h:hn. ‘I‘ne d_efendant had, not asked -
h:un on any ooaasaan a.baut some money, his, the defen-
dant' s. wife ha.d given him, tna witness. ‘Be - qdid not;___,'
knaw the defendant’s wzlfe and d:!.d not kxww the defen-',
dant wes - married,ﬂe dzd ha.ve one arink en the moyning
in question. When he wam:ed a dr:mk he took :.t at

home, right out of.his-jug. He, the witneas, hed noved




. “been-to-the-station house '-'fo.rhu-'rglm.,; S

HENRY ARGU E, being duly sworn ; testified that he
was an officer of the Twentisth Pyrecinct.: On the IStn

. .@f Pebruary, sbout .I0:40 o’alashk, -he arrested.the def-
- endant .for Stabbing. the complainaut. The.defendant.:
‘was rumning - with the knife in bhis hangs The bhlade was

¢losed. . He,: the witnessgy was leaving his house in : .
‘gitizen'® elothes when:he heard someone oall.® mnmréer
watch! poliee’®. He, the‘tyiﬁ.ness.v.-’grabbed the defenw
dant .and turned him ergund end seid,® What’s the mat-
‘ter with you?®. .The defendant seid nothing. The :oxowd
.came- down. and. said. thet the defendant had stabbed:a
‘man up .the:séreet-.z. “The gompleipnant cams down and he,,
-the witness, sew .the g¢ompleinant was.all cut. The
‘eomplainant ' saeid that.ihe. defendant cut him.: He, the..
witness; took.the defendantito.the. station house.. .The
next moraning he. asked the defendant what he ocut. the
complainant. fb:_:" a;:d-.:_tke - defendant.: said . he did it in
self defense,.and-that.he thought the.ecomplainant vas
going to hit-him. The next morning the defendant .said
.thet his wife gave.-.the;;;e,m;p:l&in&;nt..I5.ceents io riay

Polioy:and that.the.gig:came gut and he did not retura
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ﬁhe money. that was won. . The complainant was ‘an_the |

hospital four weekSe - - : :

OHN H P IERSO N, the defendanty ¢alled by -the
défense, being duly syorn, testified that Bbe was forty
years old:and hed.lived in this eity sSeventeen years.
Be had never béeni?.:i.n t{rouble with the police before. -
He was- 2 ooek for the-last ‘eight or niné years. Be
used to’ be--a.'va)ite:.;ﬁ. He'eogked, two seasons £or Drs: o
n'a:hﬂéon'am. then et . Asbury Park. Hé worked at the
Pennsylvenia Railroad @irdng the strike end then for’
D: G. Yaengling, the brewer, for about eight months. -
Last me?.ghe'ﬁég"gé@:ﬁgﬂthe" Hary Powell. 'He Yeft’
there on t;;e"-lzstﬁf of.-last. October. - He wes ‘sick and

eould not works He had esthma and heayt disease.

He hed known' the complainant for eight monthsy 40 spesk

to. On thé IIth of Februdry, between’ éignt and Bdne -
vo’ elock in the morning his, -the ;,defgahd_dﬁt 15, wife, -
pizzie; gave the complainsnt I5 ¢ents and her eousin
two cents. to play 153101-,3.‘97_-‘ ) ‘?hg-g?ig ‘deme out and entit-
led he¥ +o $15-and hér cousin to'$2. He, the deféndant,
told the ‘cémplaﬁna@nﬁ_};:bo give him thé $I5.° ThE come

pleinant said he'did mot get. thére in time to jlay the




&

a’igandanybedytha‘ESaidhedidtolda 1ie. ae. ‘the
defenda.nt, ‘gaid - thst the Mmpla,ina.nt Enew he had been
‘stok- and out o:t work &nd if ne got the money 40" g:tve
it to His,’ the defendmzt* s, ‘wife. They walked aiong’.
The ‘edmpadnant said “Lhat if he, ‘the défendant, sedd-
enything more about the gdg he would out His guts out.
He, the defendant ‘was niot able’ to fight s0 he-'walked
on. He met the- eompla;nant ‘6n - thé corner of Sﬂth strect
and again asked him'for th¢ $I5. The complednant put
bis hend in'his, ‘the defendentrs, fdice. He, the defin—
danty ran and the ‘eamplsinant van after him. The odme
Plainant' eabght him shd sfruek Him, He Feund he was
getting wéek so ‘He, the 'defeddsnt; hoilerea ‘police,
buat no police eame. The ‘admplainant’ cofitinusd to rush
in and in his mad rushthe eomplaa.nant recezved ‘& eut ”
iri-the’ abdonidh.: A mas ‘phdked up ‘his, ‘the 'defendant’ S,
het ‘and he walked towards Nirth averue.  He Heard a
oxy ‘from iife people behind himi “Thé officer ook hold
of ‘hin, " Hé had no ade& of fighting with the aom,plain-—
a.nt e he' was not & fzghter. In orasa-examina.tion the ;

defendant testifisd that he weighed' I80 pounds. He Rhad
been. Buffering from asthma dnd héart aisease for twaiyd




years and na.d been a.ttended b_v Dra. F.itz a.nd Deming. )
He had seen the compla.inant before his, the defenda.n‘t’s
w:l.fe said .___sl;e gave _the eomplainant IScerrt.s. :i.n Luoy.
Mo Carthy’s fast house, where the camplainant worked.

a.ttanding to the Turnaces. He, the éefendant, went to

)

the house for hzs W:L:Ee, eom:erm.ng some elathes. ﬂis

w:l.fe was . ehamberma:.d there. His wife was not doing a.ny

work now. He had l:x.ved with his wife £or eigm. yeam's, i

S e o e e

but was not married to her, . She wes mi.s eonmon-lmv
wife. He had no ehildren._A man named Wzlliams was

present when the emnp}.aa.nant threat ened to ent his
guts out. He told his wife to fi.nd Williams tmt she
‘sa.a.d she tried and conld not. Ee did net know where

»

Willjams l:i.ved. He ha.d knovm Wul:.ems for twelire or
fourteen years. Williams sa.id he lived in 44.-1;&1 stzzeet;
He, the def'enda.nt was on the edge of the sidewa.lk
when the aomplainmt h:i.t him. ae ope)ned h:i.s knafe and
Baid,? Go away, W:l.ll‘ He held up the Im:i.fe ixx a threa.t-
wening mWANDCT té mtxmidate tne complama.nt a.nﬂ, then
he cut the compl.a.ina.nt. He d:.d not nou.ee ’where he m

He cut the cemplaana.nt three t;mes, heeaazse the com-

pla.inant mshed a.t him. _ After he had cut f.ne cnml&:r




8
ant: the ‘third time the semplainant. stopped hitting him
and ‘he went aways He ddd not run at:all antil He séw '

a2 exrowd: coming. - He ren- from- the ‘érowd-into,the police-
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Gourt of General Sessions of the Leare
OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEwW YOREK

adainst

g(/"%/mffﬁj {/?\/((;1 a g [/ )

rhe Grand J ury of the City :gnbl County of New York, by tlus illd.i‘é:tniénﬁ,"é,céﬁée-
of ‘the CriMe or ASSATULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE, committed as follows :

oo sid— [/ Srns T, (A erar /.

late of the C‘if’;y of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the ™ wxALee At A
day of Q\jwa’ - in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

N
ninety- —- m&/* » with forece and arms, at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon
the body of one - - QL@(//J S e s . in the peace of the said People

then and there being, fo oniously did make an assault, and "Ltz / the said '

T Qz’é&(’(jc%/{'ﬂ/v‘*’- A with a certain &/A/UV\/ e

which the said .
in 7L d then and there had and held, the same being a deadly and

in 7 . right

: dangerous ivea.pon, then 'and-: there wilfully and feloniously did strike, beat, cut, stab and

wqund, Sl . _ "
. i . . - A - —-. . - . , /-_ .
with intent %W the said W&/L/C/QW/VM AP

thereby then and there teloniously and wilfully to kill, against the form of the statute in

such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and

their dignity.
SECOND COUNT—
AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

s (G CA i T

‘ of the Crime or-ASSAULT IN THE SECOND. DEGREE, committed as follows:

The said WU‘ y ﬁ‘—(o Al st 2 S .
. late of the Oity an County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the year aforesaid,

at the City an County a,foresa,id,’_with force and arms, in and upon the body of the said

iy Reeseio e in.. the ~~pea,be ~of--the- gaid .-

o ’_l"Péoplé the and  there being, feld Jei—zs y did wilfully and wrongfully‘ make another assault,
T and N7 the said - . &M/‘ R ,
| with a certain \//é/l/\%/ / ———

which the, said o ‘;f
“din '\—//{/L:ﬂ © right ha,ndCt n and there had and held, the same being a weapon and

an instrument likely to produce grievous bodily harm, then and there feloniously did wilfully

and wrongfully strike, beat, cut, stab and wound, against the form of the statute in such case

B

" made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.




. THTRD COUNT—

) AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said
, ] L g D) N ' s
- ]Z S A G S lenesna
of the OrmME oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said (J%d\/MJ O&é . CY//M/\ S

late of the. City and ‘Céﬁﬁty aforesaid, é}f‘terwards,‘ to wit: On the day and in th year aforesaid,
at the City and County aforesaid, with forece and arms, in and upon the said o i~
) Sy ,%)/L/I/QM /S in the peace of the said People, then and there being, feloniously

(dl wilfully and wrongfully make sangther assault, and ﬁ\" o the said
W}zfﬁ«mwf -

.With a certain W/\ Vo
which (\—’/’AC(,'/ the said /} a” / L 74\ é) {\/d\-/(/e/uf\/g, -

in A~ A/L,._;) right hand then and there had and held. in and upon the )
— ylw _ of N’ the said Z/\m,{' Le < J( NFpna
<.

~

then and there felonmiously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat, stab, cut, bruise and
wound, and did then and there and by the means aforesaid, feloniously, wilfully and wrong-
fully inflict grievous bodily harm npon the said \_ o P

T against the form of the statufe "ii such case made and provided, and agsinst the peacs of the =

People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.
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DATE:

03/15/93
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Secc. 192.

District Police Couyy lindertaking to appear during the Examinabion,

CITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK, {5%

An information having been laid be ..a Police Justice

of the City of New York, charging. £ :]?ef‘ehdant with

the offence of ...

and he -having been brought before said Justice for an examination of said charge, and it having been made
to appear to’ the satisfaction of said Justice that said examination should be adjourned to some other day, and
. eof having been urned,

Defendant of No
Street ; by occupation a

7

eet, by occupation a 4 .Surety, hereby jointly and severally undertake
'.t'li'xat the above named.. : pfi Defendant
sha.ll personally appear before the said ]ustlce, at the.. Q)\ District Police Court in the City of w Yor

during the said examination, or that we will pay to the People of the State of New York the sum of.

I-Iundred Dollars.




CITY AND -
OF NEW YORK -

Q
=}
g
7
H
b

the within

holder witittrthie said County and State, and is worth_

exclusive of property exempt from w 1
and that his property consists of |

811 ‘ow 9M 0) ULOmY

“RONDUIWDXI Y2 BuUinp
«oaddp 07 Lurywiiepun

Distriet Police Court.

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

(%
3
o
.
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o
=
~
=
aa
&

Taken the..




ﬁﬂw’ﬂ’im {ouyt-- Zi Mistuit,

at premises No.»é/é/f 5:7/ Zz Clerrinc

and County of New York, unlawfully keepé and maintains a Gambling House, and knowingly

permits divers, idle, disorderly and evil disposed persons to resort there, to gamble and play at

cards and games of chance for mouey, in violation of the law, and to the common nuisance of the

People of the State of New York.

k4
rd

Z o,
7Deponent further says that in said premises on the 2 5. , day of

5%‘4-@\’ A e e 1 % 3said_é_./«b,z£ '
' | S é'tﬂf Ao Soe 00 caltle A wTes £ a‘_,éé,/;'
did unlawfully and felon ousl_);\d 1 the game called, Faro, . 3 ce

onent

cat.ﬂaid_.g&mg and that within said premises are exhibited, kept and used by

Fevt

faro and other gambling tables, checks, cards, devices and apparatus, for the purpose of gambling,

the discovery of which would tend to establish the truth of the charge herein made.

Sworn to befor

me,this
day of 4/( 7

Porice JusTICE.




WYSnL 20390

0 fop
/29 Usyn,

" " Bec.198—200.

L - District Police Court.

CITY/AN COUNTYQ_ . ' 3 RN
- Of\N YORK, . ' .

u/ /{/{_ Q/Z/ » being duly examined before the under-
signed accox dlllﬂ‘ to la,w on the ‘Lnnexed charge ; and bemo informed that it is h ___right to
make a statement in: relation to the charge against la— ; that the statement is designed to

enable i e if he see fit to answer the charge and explaln the facts alleged against h
that The ' is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ——waiver cannot be used

against h e— on the trial.

Question. Whatig y, ur name ?

Answer. _

Question. How old are you ?

Answer. : 3 r A/ £ 21

Question. )Were were yo rn ?

V B
Answer. &ﬁ,_ ot o0

Que;s*tz'ow Where do you live, and how long h-‘we you remded there ?

P 7 - N S

Ques;//zon What s Vyur busindss or professmn

- otC e

Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you ma,y think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend o your
exculpation ?

Answer.

3 "

77




Suilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same and  he be admitted to bail ir the swm of

Hundred Dollars ~and be committed to the Wardern and Keeper of

the City Prison, of the City of. New Y orke, until he  give such bail.

Dated...... x

I have admitted the above-named.

to bail to answer

Police Justice.

Dated.... ..Police Jiestice.




THE PEOPLE, &c.,
LAINT OF

BAILED,

Restdence .
ﬁ

o —————




@onrt of General Sessions of the Pence

OF THE CI1TY AND COUNTY oF NEuW York.

..

of the CRIME OF KEEPING committed ag

’ fqllows F

‘The said

zl'\s.i.tév 6f~1the OZ_—Z“% Ward of the ity ork,; i1 the County of New York aforesaid,’
: on ﬂﬁe ) vou ' Q%O - in the year of our Lord one thousand
. eight hundred and ninety- ys and times as well before as after,
. ‘to the day of the taking of
A arms, unlawfully did keep a certain room, in a certain building
against the form of the Statute in such case made and provide

of the State of New York and their dignity.

, and on divers otifer da
ion, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and
there situate, to be used for gambling,

d, and against the peace of the People

SECOND COUNT. (Sec. 344, Penal Code.)

e Grand Jury a.fﬁ%id, by this indictment further accuse the said

b4

d as foliéivg :

>

lé,i;e of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and in the Yyear aforesaid,

and on said other days and times, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, a certain room in a




and a certain gambling table and establishment, and divers cards,

certain building there sitﬁate,
he Grand Jury afore-

chips, devices and apparatus, a more particular description “whereof is to &
" said unknown, and cannot now be given, the same being suitable for gambling purposes, with force
feloniously did allow to be used for gambling purposes, against the form of the Statute

and arms,
he People of the State of New York and

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of t

their dignity.

THIRD COUNT. (Sec. 385, Penal Code.)

And the Grand J ury atgpresaid, by this indictment further accuse the
AN

of the CRIME OF MAINTAININ PUBLIC NUISANCE, committed as follows :
‘The said @Qﬁ/ \/(/L/Z/@/

‘,'la-.te of the Ward, City and "County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afbre—
“said, and on sq,id oi?'herdays and times, a.t"‘the War(wy and County aforesaid, with force and arms, a

ik : 2 R =) o~ el e ST 1,
did keep and maintain ; and in. o said common gaming house, then and on said other days
‘and times, there unlawfully and injuriously did cause and procure divers idle and ill-disposed persons

' to_bé and remain, and the said idle and ill-diéposed persons, on the day and in the year aforesaid, and
to game together and play at a certain unlawful game of cards called

'ow other days-and ‘times,
in the said common gaming house aforesaid, there did unlawfully and in-

T -0
" juriously procure, permit and suffer, and the said idle and ill-disposed persons, then, and on said
by such procurement, permission

other days and times, in the said common gaming house aforesaid,

and sufferance of the said W W .
- \\\

there did game together and play at said unlawful game of cards, for divers large and excessive sums

of money, to the great annoyance, injury and damage of the comfort and repose of a great number of
persons, good citizens of our said State, there inhabiting and residing, and passing and repassing, to
gainst the form of the Statute in such case made and pro-

the common nuisance of the said citizens, a
Sta.tg of New York.

- vided, nnd':'mga,inst the peace and dignity of the People of the

\

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.

me—and-gain—un-lawfullyvand- injuriously . . .. . ..
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4703

DESCRIPTION:

Raynor, Frank

DATE:
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. - ———. ‘_d‘_
Police Court— P District. ~!

Qity and County s o . '
of et Pagk, | W
‘of No. 2/ E = LB T g ______ Z T Street, aged

P

e

_ day of TT2F
\ Sollowing property feloniowsly taken, stolen, and M away, viz:

7 has great cause to belze've, and dorss beheve t]m/ zf/w aforesaid

BURGLAsztt@d and the aforesaid property taken, stolen and carried away by




District Police Court.

AND COUNTY } 8s:

Mduly examined before the under-

igned according to law, on tlr(annexe%trge, and being informed that it is h right to
make a statement in relation to the chffrge against lzé,? ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if  he sees fit, to answer the charge and exptain the facts alleged against h \ ;
that he gﬁfészu.t_--liberty to waive making a statement, and that h o  waiver cannot be used
against h Y on the trial.

. Question.  What is ypfi name ?

Answer.

Question... How old are you? .
Aruswer.
. Question. . Where were you’born ?

Answer.

. Question. . §l there ?
Answer. <. C .
Question.

Answer.

. Question. . Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testimony
against yo state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

. o
 Answer. / I W g
v/'

S




n depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

It appearing to me by the withi

committed, and that there is sufficient se t/o/bcliavo the within named

same, and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

and be committed to the Warden and K‘eepar/o?

ity of New XYork, wuntil he gives {
-

5
189

T have admitted the ahove-nanned......

to bail to answer by the undertaling hereto annexed.

Dated, o 89 . Police Justice.

There being no sifficient cause to believe the within named S

swilty of the offense withirn mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.
- 1881




BAILED,
No. 1, by

Residence ..

No. 2, by.

No. 8, by.

Residence .

Restdence

... Street,

Dated,

. 8treet.

Witnesses _

N

Street.




C @ourt of Genersl Sessions of the PLeare

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Ter ProPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORE

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, sccuse

RD DEGREE, committed as follows :

of the ORIME or BURGLARY IN THE THI
The Said CXW % .

late of the 7 / Zzi: Ward of the Cit%N ew York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

in the year of our Tord one

\A/‘/\/M day of _
%«-&/@ ~time of the same day, at the

thousand eight hundred and ninety- / in the
of

Ward City and County aforesaid, a certain building there sitdate, to wit, the

therebﬂsitua;f‘:e', feloniously and bli}giariously did brea,k‘int;;) and enter, with 'intent .to co mit somé .
crimezfherein, to wit : Withlintent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said%
_ Inthessid o~ — /& & ‘
/then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take a.'nd.ca.rry away,
profided, and against the peace of thg‘ B '

then and there
against the form of the statute in such case made and

People of the State of New York and their dignity. .




SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, by this indictment] further accuse the said

committed as follows:

. The .said

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit : on the day and in the year aforesaid,

_at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the W—— time of said day, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and persona,l property of one ? Ww %

in the k‘/ W — of the said M/ Q/‘\%

there situate, then and there being found, in the
aforesaid, then and there feloniously did steal, take a.nd carry away, against the form of the statute.
in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York
and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT:

And ynd Jury aforesaid,. by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the CriME or RECE I O¢ mitted as follows :

The said

S

late of the Ward Clty a,nd County a.foresald a.fterwa,rds, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-
sald_, with force and arms, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, -

Lo g g
@ Z %w Méa@:’/é

by a certain person or persons ) aforesaic%%(n, then lately before felon-
iously stolen from the said . S —
N

/7/&”/-/4

then and there well knowing the said goods, c tels -and personal property to have been felon-
. iously--stolen, against .the form .of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the

peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Atiorney.




